

University of Nebraska Medical Center DigitalCommons@UNMC

**Theses & Dissertations** 

**Graduate Studies** 

Summer 8-13-2021

# Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor 4 and R4-ICD Increased Proliferation, Cell Survival and Metastasis in Cholangiocarcinoma

Yamnah Hafeji University of Nebraska Medical Center

Tell us how you used this information in this short survey. Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.unmc.edu/etd

Part of the Biochemistry Commons, and the Molecular Biology Commons

# **Recommended Citation**

Hafeji, Yamnah, "Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor 4 and R4-ICD Increased Proliferation, Cell Survival and Metastasis in Cholangiocarcinoma" (2021). *Theses & Dissertations*. 565. https://digitalcommons.unmc.edu/etd/565

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies at DigitalCommons@UNMC. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses & Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UNMC. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@unmc.edu.

# Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 and R4-ICD increased proliferation, cell survival and metastasis in cholangiocarcinoma

Bу

# Yamnah Hafeji

A THESIS

Presented to the Faculty of the University of Nebraska Graduate College in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master's

Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Graduate Program

Under Supervision of Professor Ashley Mohr

University of Nebraska Medical Center Omaha, Nebraska

July 2021

Supervisory Committee: Justin Mott, M.D. Ph.D. Laurey Steinke, Ph.D. Robert Lewis, Ph.D.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to express my deepest appreciation to Dr. Ashley Mohr, for accepting me to pursue my thesis in the laboratory. Her encouragement, valuable advice, support and guidance helped me throughout my studies and research. I am grateful for her patience from the beginning of my project and till the completion of my thesis. The completion of this project would not be possible without her support. I would also like to extend my deepest gratitude to Dr. Justin Mott for the relentless support and guidance for my project. I greatly appreciate the guidance provided by my supervisory committee members, Dr. Laurey Steinke, Dr. Justin Mott and Dr. Robert Lewis, which helped me to progress my project. I heartly appreciate the constant help from the master's coordinators Dr. Laurey Steinke and Dr. Melissa Teoh-Fitzgerald since the beginning of my application process and throughout these two years of my graduate studies. I am very grateful to have awesome lab mates, Andrew Phillips, Matthew Spriet, Merissa Lobl and Andrew Oleksijew for creating such a lovely work environment in the lab. I would like to acknowledge to Dr. Mohr and Andrew who trained me for the technical lab work. I would like to extend my thanks to the administration of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology department as well as the international student advisor, Mr. Dan Teet for the great amount of assistance from the day I have got my admit in the University of Nebraska Medical Center. Last but not the least, thanks to the almighty, my parents, sister, family members and friends for their constant support and encouragement.

# Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 and R4-ICD increased proliferation, cell survival and metastasis in cholangiocarcinoma

Yamnah A. Hafeji, M.S.

University of Nebraska, 2021 Advisor: Ashley Mohr, Ph.D.

# ABSTRACT

Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 (FGFR4) is over expressed in many cancers, including cholangiocarcinoma (CCA). FGFR4 is activated by fibroblast growth factor ligand 19 (FGF19) and plays a critical role in CCA progression. An intracellular cleaved product of FGFR4, referred as R4-ICD (FGFR4 intracellular domain) is also overexpressed in CCA. However, the specific role of R4-ICD in CCA is unknown. In this study, we hypothesized that FGFR4 and R4-ICD play a role in cell proliferation, cell survival and metastasis in CCA. To test this, FGFR4 and R4-ICD were cloned into a cholangiocarcinoma cell line (HuCCT-1) that does not endogenously express FGFR4. Two other CCA cell lines, KMCH and Mz-ChA-1, were also utilized that express endogenous FGFR4. To determine the influence of FGFR4 on CCA proliferation, survival, and migration, FGFR4-selective and pan-FGFR inhibitors were used. Expression of FGFR4 increased CCA proliferation, cell survival and migration. Stable knockdown of FGFR4 using shRNA reduced CCA proliferation, cell survival and migration. FGFR4-selective small molecular inhibitors sensitized cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis and reduced migration. R4-ICD-expressing HuCCT-1 cells (lacking endogenous FGFR4 expression) were protected against TRAILinduced apoptosis, indicating an underlying role of R4-ICD. This study suggests that, in addition to FGFR4, R4-ICD can be a potential regulator of CCA.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	i
ABSTRACT	ii
LIST of FIGURES:	v
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	vii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Significance	1
Causes and diagnosis of CCA	2
Limitation of current standard of care in CCA	4
Fibroblast growth factor receptors	6
Structure and Function of FGFR4	8
FGFR4 signaling in cancer initiation and progression	8
FGFR4 and FGF19 overexpression in cancer progression	9
Role of FGFR4 in proliferation, cell survival, and migration in cancer	10
Targeting FGFR4 in cancer	11
Hypothesis and Objective:	16
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS	17
Cell culture and reagents	17
Development of R4-ICD expressing cells	17
Selection of antibiotic concentration	17
Standard protocol for restriction digestion	17
Standard ligation protocol	18
Standard transformation protocol	18
Cloning strategy	19
Stable transfection protocol	20
Cell Proliferation Assay	21
Migration assay	23
Immunoblotting	23
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	25
Role of FGFR4 in CCA cell proliferation, survival and migration	26
Determining the efficacy of small molecule inhibitors in CCA cell proliferation	31
Effect of small molecule inhibitors in CCA cell apoptosis	36

Additional pan-FGFR inhibitors were tested for their efficacy on KMCH cell a	poptosis 37
Effect of FGFR small molecule inhibitors in CCA cell migration	40
Cloning strategy for the stable expression of R4-ICD in HuCCT-1 and KMCH s cells	hFGFR4 41
Role of R4-ICD in cell proliferation	47
Role of R4-ICD in cell survival	47
Role of R4-ICD in cell migration	48
Determining downstream signaling of FGFR4 and R4-ICD	51
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	54
Conclusion	61
References	62

# LIST OF FIGURES:

Figure 1: Cholangiocarcinoma (CCA): Anatomical location and classification2
Figure 2: FGFR4 and R4-ICD mediate cancer progression in CCA
Figure 3: FGFR4 expression in CCA cells26
Figure 4: FGFR4 increases CCA cell proliferation27
Figure 5: FGFR4 protects against TRAIL-induced cell death
Figure 6: FGFR4 expression alters CCA cell migration in vitro
Figure 7: Pan-FGFR4 inhibitors and FGFR4-selective inhibitor BLU9931 reduced
KMCH cell proliferation
Figure 8: FGFR4-selective and pan-FGFR inhibitors reduced proliferation in
parental HuCCT-1 and HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells
Figure 9: FGFR4-selective and pan-FGFR inhibitors reduced the proliferation of
Mz-ChA-1 cells
Figure 10: FGFR4-selective inhibitor sensitizes cells to TRAIL-induced cell death
parental KMCH cells
Figure 11: Additional pan-FGFR inhibitors were tested for efficacy using caspase
3/7 activity assay in parental KMCH cells after 6 hours of treatment
Figure 12: Additional pan-FGFR inhibitors were tested for their efficacy using
caspase 3/7 activity in parental KMCH cells after 24 hours of treatment
Figure 13: FGFR4-selective inhibitor, BLU9931 and pan-FGFR inhibitors
(PD173074 and BGJ398) reduced cell migration41
Figure 14: Cloning strategy to generate pBABE-zeo.bGH.R4-ICD

Figure 15: The role of R4-ICD in cellular proliferation, apoptosis and migration.	50
Figure 16: R4-ICD mediated CCA cell survival is independent of AKT	51
Figure 17: Evaluation of FGFR4 dependent downstream signaling using	
immunoblot analysis with anti-FGFR4, anti-pERK, anti-tERK, anti-pAKT anti-	
tAKT and anti-actin (loading control) antibodies	53

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ARDIA	AT-Rich interaction domain 1A
BRCA2	breast cancer type 2 susceptibility protein
CCA	cholangiocarcinoma
CEUS	contrast-enhanced ultrasonography
CO <sub>2</sub>	carbon dioxide
CRC	colorectal caner
СТ	computed tomography
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
dCCA	distal cholangiocarcinoma
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
eCCA	extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma
EMT	epithelial-mesenchymal transformation
ERCP	Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography
ERK	extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FBS	fetal bovine serum
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
FGFR	fibroblast growth factor receptor
FGFRL1	fibroblast growth factor receptor like-1
GRB2	growth factor bound protein 2
HCC	hepatocellular carcinoma
HER2	Erb-B2 receptor tyrosine kinase

HNSCC	head and neck squamous cell carcinoma
HS	heparan sulfate
iCCA	intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma
IDH	isocitrate dehydrogenase
lg	immunoglobulin
KRAS	Kristen rat sarcoma viral oncogene
LB	lysogeny broth
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCL1	Myeloid Cell Leukemia 1
MMP	matrix metalloproteinases
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
рАКТ	phosphorylated protein kinase B
PBRM1	polybromo 1
рССА	perihilar cholangiocarcinoma
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
pERK	phosphorylated extracellular signal-regulated kinase
PI3K	phosphoinositol 3-kinase
PKB/AKT	protein kinase B
РКС	protein kinase C
PLCγ	phospholipase C-gamma
R4-ICD	fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 intracellular domain
RNAi	ribonucleic acid interference
SBRT	stereotactic body radiation therapy
SOC	super optimal broth with catabolite repression
SOS	son of sevenless
STAT3	signal transducer and activator of transcription 3

TCGA	The Cancer Genome Atlas
TGF-β	transforming growth factor beta
thorotrast	thorium dioxide
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TP53	tumor protein 53
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand

# **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

### Significance

Cholangiocarcinoma (CCA) is identified as an aggressive tumor that develops in the biliary tract of the liver. It arises from the bile duct epithelial cells (cholangiocytes) or their progenitor cells <sup>1</sup>. CCA is the second most diagnosed hepatic malignancy after hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)<sup>2</sup>. CCA accounts for approximately 3% of gastrointestinal tumors <sup>3</sup> and 15% of primary liver tumors <sup>4</sup>. Based on the anatomical location of the tumor, CCA is divided into two major types including intrahepatic CCA (iCCA – within the bile ducts of the liver) and extrahepatic CCA (eCCA – within the bile ducts outside of the liver) <sup>5</sup>. eCCA has been subdivided into perihilar CCA (pCCA) and distal CCA (dCCA) <sup>5</sup>. iCCA is a malignancy known to be located at the periphery of the secondary branch of both right and left hepatic duct. pCCA (also known as Klatskin tumor) is located at the junction of left and right hepatic duct, while dCCA is commonly associated with the common bile duct (Figure 1). CCA is frequently diagnosed in advanced stages due to the asymptotic nature of the tumor in early stages. Due to the late-stage diagnosis, there are limited therapeutic options available to treat the majority of patients with CCA <sup>6, 7</sup>. Recently, it has been observed that the incidence of iCCA is increasing worldwide, in comparison with pCCA and dCCA 6, 8, 9.

CCA has a poor prognosis with the 5-year survival rate between 5-10%. However, the 5-year survival rate is between 25-30% in patients undergoing curative surgery <sup>10, 11</sup>. If the cancer has metastasized to distant parts of the body, the 5-year survival rate reduces to 2%. In the overall cases of pCCA and dCCA, the 5-year survival rate is 10%, while early diagnosis (before tumor advances) of pCCA and dCCA has a 15% survival rate. In case of iCCA, the 5-year survival rate is 9%. If the cancer is diagnosed in early stages (before





# Causes and diagnosis of CCA

The etiology of CCA is not well defined, although a few risk factors and diseases that are associated with CCA have been identified. These include parasitic infection, hepatitis infection, inflammatory bowel disease, liver injury and bile duct disorders. *Clonorchis sinensis* and *Opisthorchis viverrine* are parasites are known to cause liver fluke infection in southeast Asia. These parasites are major risk factors associated with CCA <sup>13</sup>. Also, *Ascaris lumbricoides* (roundworm) infection can lead to CCA <sup>13-15</sup>. All three of these parasites may cause hepatolithiasis, gallstones in the biliary duct that may increase the risk associated with CCA <sup>16</sup>.

Besides parasitic infections, a few bacterial infections, including *Helicobacter* species, are also associated risk factors for CCA <sup>14</sup>. Hepatitis infections, including viral hepatitis B and C, are major risk factors of CCA, principally iCCA. Hepatitis C virus is predominantly associated with CCA in USA <sup>17</sup>, while hepatitis B-associated CCA is more predominant in Asian countries, including China <sup>18</sup>. Furthermore, patients with primary choledochal cysts, primary sclerosing cholangitis, and ulcerative colitis have a high risk of developing CCA <sup>15, 19, 20</sup>. A well-known association between CCA and genetic aberrations has been identified <sup>21</sup>. In addition, lifestyle and chemical-hazard associated risk factors such as smoking, obesity, alcohol consumption, long term chemical exposure of dichloromethane and 1,2- dichloropropane (printing company workers have exposure) have a higher chance of developing CCA <sup>2, 22, 23</sup>. Long term exposure of radiographic agents such as thorotrast (thorium dioxide) may also lead to CCA <sup>15, 24</sup>.

In patients with pCCA and dCCA to the primary symptom is jaundice because of bile blockage between the liver and intestine, while in the case of iCCA jaundice is less frequent. Besides jaundice, other symptoms such as asthenia, abdominal pain, nausea, malaise, weight loss and anorexia also occur in advanced CCA <sup>25</sup>. The most common approaches to diagnose CCA are ultrasonography, contrast-enhanced ultrasonography (CEUS), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computed tomography (CT) scan. Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) imaging methods are considered a gold standard for the detection of biliary disorders and tumors <sup>26</sup>. ERCP has a 74% sensitivity and 70% specificity for the detection of CCA <sup>27</sup>. These techniques are used to determine CCA staging and treatment responses <sup>28</sup>. A CT scan has also been considered a gold standard technique to diagnose CCA as it provides detailed information about the primary tumor and metastasized sites in the abdominal cavity <sup>28</sup>. Moreover, cancer antigen 19-9 (CA 19-9) can also be used as a marker for CCA; the elevated level of CA 19-9 can indicate metastatic disease. However, some patients (Lewis-antigen-

negative) are unable to make CA 19-9, making this marker ineffective in this population, necessitating the need for histopathological assessment for this subgroup <sup>5</sup>.

# Limitation of current standard of care in CCA

The current standard of care for CCA has many limitations due to limited effectiveness and adverse side effects. The first line chemotherapeutic agents that are used in current clinical practice for CCA management are gemcitabine and platinumbased agents to treat primary as well as advanced CCA <sup>29, 30</sup>. However, these chemotherapeutic agents showed toxicity toward non-cancerous host cells and have severe side effects including nausea, anorexia and vomiting <sup>31</sup>. There are no second line of chemotherapeutic agents or adjuvant therapies presently available for CCA management, due to poor outcomes in the clinical trials <sup>32</sup>.

Surgical resection is a potential approach to treat CCA patients but approximately 70% of patients are diagnosed at advanced stages because most patients are not eligible surgical resection <sup>33, 34</sup>. Currently, the advances in the developments of radiotherapy design have made it a potential non-surgical regimen to treat patients with CCA <sup>8</sup>. However, radiation treatment is not a beneficial approach in the case of advanced CCA <sup>33, 34</sup>. Besides radiotherapy, other available treatment regimens include novel systemic therapy, transarterial chemoembolization, ethanol ablation and stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT), which are potential non-surgical treatment methods <sup>35, 36</sup>. To manage iCCA, liver transplant is an effective option, which can increase the 5-year survival rates of the patient. In such cases, a combination of chemotherapy and radiation therapy was applied followed by liver transplantation, which increased the 5-year survival rate from 18% to 64% <sup>37-39</sup>. However, a limitation of transplantation is lack of matched donors, and few patients qualify for surgical resection based on tumor staging <sup>40-42</sup>.

Another emerging treatment regimen for CCA patients is targeted therapy, where therapeutic target molecules can be used to target isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH) mutation, Erb-B2 Receptor Tyrosine Kinase 2 (HER2) mutation/amplification, fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR) mutation/amplification, and breast cancer type 2 susceptibility protein (BRCA2) mutation in biliary tract cancers <sup>43, 44</sup>. The IDH family is comprised of IDH1 and IDH2, which are the metabolic enzymes participating in the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. Both IDH1 and IDH2 catalyze the reaction of isocitrate to  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate by NADP<sup>+</sup> dependent decarboxylation <sup>45</sup>. Studies showed that a single amino acid substitution (usually arginine) may lead to the gain of function phenotype observed with IDH mutations. The gain of function of IDH works as an oncogenic marker that promotes proliferation and migration of tumor cells. IDH disruptions may further act as stimulators of other pathways such as VEGFR <sup>45</sup> <sup>46, 47</sup>. Currently, IDH1 and IDH2 mutations have been associated in 15-20% of iCCA while very few are associated with eCCA <sup>48, 49</sup>. AG-120 (Ivosidenib, Agios) is an IDH-selective inhibitor used to treat patients with CCA <sup>50</sup>. The pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic studies of AG-120 in patients with CCA suggested that the drug had good oral response with 500 mg (once per day) with no dose dependent toxicities found in the Phase 1 clinical trial (NCT02073994). The Phase 3 clinical trial study suggested 30% of patients had progression free survival within the first two months of treatment in patients with iCCA <sup>51, 52</sup>. However, an additional clinical trial showed a few side effects including, fatigue, diarrhea, nausea, vomiting and abdominal pain with AG-120 treatment <sup>50, 53</sup>. Another IDH inhibitor, FT-2102 (Olutasidenib, Forma Therapeutics) is currently under clinical trial for iCCA (NCT03684811). The efficacy of other multi-tyrosine kinases that inhibit IDH have been described and showed a positive response against iCCA cells <sup>54</sup>. In addition to IDH, overexpression of FGFR, MET and ERBB were observed in CCA, were related with poor prognosis, and are candidates for targeted therapy 7, 55.

The hybrid capture-based comprehensive genomic profiling (CGP) analysis of 412 patients with iCCA and 57 patients with eCCA was performed. These studies suggested that 1-5 % of patients with iCCA had had genetic aberrations in FGFR1, FGFR2 or FGFR3, with a female predominance. FGFR2-fusions were also observed in 13-50% of patients with CCA <sup>54</sup>. In another study, next generation sequencing (NGS) was performed on CCA samples from 75 patients, finding mutations (66%), loss/deletion (7%), amplifications (20%) and other genetic abnormalities (7%) of genes including tumor protein 53 (TP53), Kristen rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog (KRAS), IDH1, AT-Rich Interaction Domain 1A (ARID1A), Myeloid Cell Leukemia 1 (MCL1) and polybromo-1 (PBRM1). However, 13% of iCCA and 5% of eCCA had alterations in FGFR family proteins, including mutation, amplification and fusion<sup>56, 57</sup>. In FGFR alterations, 13% of CCA had FGFR2-fusion, 50-60% of CCA had FGFR4 overexpression, rest had shown FGFR1 or FGFR3 mutation <sup>58</sup>. Currently, Phase 3 clinical trials are testing inhibition of FGFR2-fusion proteins through specific targeting molecules to treat CCA <sup>51, 59</sup>. Overall, targeted therapeutics, such as IDH inhibitors and FGFR2-fusion inhibitors are showing beneficial effects in clinical trials with minor side effects, suggesting targeted FGFR therapies are a potential intervention to treat CCA patients.

# Fibroblast growth factor receptors

FGFRs are membrane-bound tyrosine kinase receptors <sup>60, 61</sup>. The FGFR family is comprised of highly conserved subtypes FGFR1, FGFR2, FGFR3, and FGFR4, while recently FGFR5/FGFRL1 (fibroblast growth factor receptor like-1) has also been discovered. FGFR5 is known to interact with the family of FGF ligands but it lacks the intracellular tyrosine kinase domain <sup>61</sup>. The structure of FGFR1-4 has been divided into three domains including extracellular immunoglobulin (Ig)-like domains 1-3 (D1-D3), a transmembrane domain and an intracellular tyrosine kinase domain <sup>62</sup>. The FGFR family of tyrosine kinases differ from other tyrosine kinases as their D1, D2 and D3 domains are rich in hydrophobic amino acid residues and contain an acid box composed of 30 serine amino acid residue that connects D1 and D2 <sup>63, 64</sup>.

The FGFR family is activated by FGF ligands in the presence of specific coreceptors and play a distinct role during various stages of embryogenesis such as organogenesis, formation of the limb, nervous system, the lungs and the midbrain <sup>65</sup>. Other than embryonic development, FGFRs play a crucial role in the adult organisms as well. FGFRs regulate tissue homeostasis, angiogenesis, tissue repair and inflammation <sup>65</sup>. Although, the function of FGFR5 is not clearly understood, a recent study indicated that it might be an essential regulator of cell-cell adhesion as it lacks a cytoplasmic intracellular domain <sup>66</sup>.

The FGF family includes18 ligands named from FGF1-FGF10 and FGF16-FGF23 <sup>64</sup>. FGF1-10, 16-18 and 20 are known as canonical ligands that require heparan sulfate (HS) proteoglycans as a coreceptor to activate the downstream signaling <sup>67</sup>. However, FGF19, 21 and 23 function as paracrine factors and require Klotho-binding protein as a cofactor to activate downstream signaling <sup>67</sup>. Upon binding of the FGF ligand to the receptor, in the presence of HS/Klotho, the FGFR proteins dimerize with the same or other FGFR proteins on the cell membrane <sup>68</sup>. The dimerized receptors autophosphorylate and/or transphosphorylate the tyrosine residue in the intracellular terminal domain <sup>69</sup>. Further, the phosphorylated residues interact with adaptor proteins such as growth factor receptor bound protein-2 (GRB2), son of sevenless (SOS) and fibroblast receptor substrate 2 $\alpha$  (FRS2 $\alpha$ ). Downstream FGFR signaling is mediated via phosphorylation of FRS2 and phospholipase C- $\gamma$  (PLC- $\gamma$ ), which subsequently activates protein kinase C (PKC), phosphoinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT, signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) and Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK/ERK) <sup>62, 70</sup>. The dysregulation of FGFR signaling can result in several diseases including cancer <sup>62</sup>.

7

# Structure and Function of FGFR4

The structural homology of FGFR4 has a few differences to the other FGFR family proteins. First, the extracellular domain of FGFR4 has only one isoform, while FGFR1-3 have multiple isoforms of loop III <sup>71, 72</sup>. The tyrosine kinase domain of FGFR4 has a distinct amino acid residue, cysteine (C552) instead of tyrosine (Y552), from other FGFR1-3 family proteins <sup>73</sup>. FGFR4 is known to be activated by FGF ligands in both autocrine and paracrine manner. FGFR4 had highest binding activity for ligands FGF1, 2, 4 and 8, which can activate the FGFR4 downstream signaling even in the absence of Klotho co-factor <sup>62, 73</sup>. The role of paracrine ligands FGF19, 21 and 23 was determined, among which, FGF19 showed highest binding affinity to FGFR4 in the presence of Klotho <sup>62, 73</sup>. At a physiological level, FGF19-mediated FGFR4 signaling mainly regulated bile acid synthesis, metabolism, tissue repair and muscle differentiation in growing tissue including liver, bone and lung <sup>73</sup>.

### FGFR4 signaling in cancer initiation and progression

Recent studies have suggested that alteration in the FGF19-FGFR4 axis plays a crucial role in cancer initiation and advancement <sup>74</sup>. Dysregulation of FGFR4 signaling due to mutation, single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP), overexpression of ligand and receptor has been related with cancer cell proliferation, metastasis, therapy resistance and epithelial to mesenchymal transformation (EMT) <sup>75</sup>. The most common mutation of the extracellular membrane domain of FGFR4 is tyrosine to cysteine at amino acid 367 (Y367C), which causes spontaneous dimerization of the receptors leading to phosphorylation of downstream signaling proteins including ERK and AKT <sup>76</sup>. Mutations in the kinase domain of the intracellular region of the FGFR4 receptor, including valine to glutamic acid (V550E) and asparagine to lysine (N535K), have been identified as markers

of cancer. Both V550E and N535K caused autophosphorylation of FGFR4 and increased the proliferation and migration of tumor cells via STAT3 signaling <sup>77</sup>.

The mutations V550E and N535K also lead to the dysregulation of FGFR4 signaling and have been associated with multiple cancers including prostate cancer, breast cancer, rhabdomyosarcoma cancer <sup>75, 78</sup>. The most well-characterized SNP in FGFR4 is present on exon 9. The mutation in the transmembrane domain of FGFR4 from glycine to arginine (G388R) and is associated with multiple cancers and decreased the survival rates of patients <sup>79, 76, 80</sup>. The G388R SNP led to a highly aggressive and metastatic tumor cells that stabilized matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-14, leading to the degradation of collagen that may increase the risk of tumor metastasis <sup>81</sup>. Besides SNPs and mutations altering the FGFR4 protein signaling cascade, overexpression of FGFR4 and FGF19 also play a crucial role in cancer initiation and progression.

# FGFR4 and FGF19 overexpression in cancer progression

The overexpression of FGFR4 and its ligands, including FGF19, accounts for 66% of FGFR4 signaling dysregulation in human cancers including breast, liver, lung squamous, esophageal, bladder, head and neck cancers <sup>73</sup>. FGF19 overexpression has been associated with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) <sup>82</sup>. Recombinant human FGF19 activated FGFR4 downstream signaling in Klotho-dependent manner, increased proliferation and inhibited apoptosis of HCC cells. However, RNA interference of FGF19 (siRNA-based silencing) decreased proliferation and increased apoptosis of HCC cell lines, indicating a contributing role of FGF19 in HCC progression <sup>83</sup>. In addition, FGF19 overexpression is also observed in the patients with CCA <sup>84, 85</sup>.

Overexpression of FGFR4 has been observed in multiple cancers including liver, colon, breast, rhabdomyosarcoma and pancreatic cancer <sup>86-89</sup>. The overexpression is associated with reduced patient survival rate as well as resistance to radiotherapy and

chemotherapy <sup>88</sup>. The cancer genome atlas (TCGA) analysis data suggested that primary breast cancer had 1.5-fold higher expression of FGFR4 compared to non-cancerous breast cancer tissues<sup>90</sup>. Similarly, TCGA analysis suggested that ovarian cancer and rhabdomyosarcoma showed overexpression of FGFR4 compared to non-cancerous tissues <sup>91, 92</sup>. The overexpression of FGFR4 is linked with the increased in cancer cell proliferation, invasion and survival of colorectal, liver, ovarian and lung cancer <sup>73</sup>.

### Role of FGFR4 in proliferation, cell survival, and migration in cancer

FGFR4 overexpression was observed in HCC cell lines including Huh7, JHH7, HepG2, PLC/PRF/5. Downregulation of FGFR4 via RNA based interference approach (short hairpin ribonucleic acid-shRNA) highly repressed the viability of both, Huh7 and JHH cells. Similarly, the proliferation of HCC cell line was increased in the presence of recombinant FGF19 in a dose-dependent manner. It indicated that the FGF19/FGFR4 signaling plays a crucial role in cancer cell proliferation. Moreover, it was observed that recombinant FGF19 promoted HCC cell proliferation via p-FRS2α and p-ERK pathway <sup>93</sup>. Similarly, overexpression of FGFR4 was observed in colorectal cancer. Stable knockdown of FGFR4 using shRNA in colorectal cancer cells SW480 and SW48 significantly reduced the cell proliferation via p-ERK signaling compared to FGFR4 expressing parental cells <sup>94</sup>.

FGFR4 signaling prevented apoptosis of alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma cells, indicating a role of FGFR4 signaling in cancer cell survival <sup>95</sup>. Furthermore, FGFR4 played a crucial role in the survival of colorectal cancer cells. FGFR4-knockdown cells showed significantly lower cell survival compared to FGFR4 expressing cells, suggesting FGFR4 could be a potential player in the cell survival of colorectal cancer cells. It has been reported that the FGFR4 mainly inhibits apoptosis of cancer cells through downstream signaling via AKT <sup>94</sup>. In addition, shFGFR4 colorectal cancer cells had lower levels of Snail, transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) and Twist expression and increased expression

of E-cadherin. These downstream effects caused decreased cell adhesion, migration and invasion, supporting the role that FGFR4 plays a vital role in cancer cell migration <sup>94</sup>.

FGFR4 overexpression also promoted proliferation of CCA cell lines RBE and QBC939. The knockdown of FGFR4 decreased proliferation, while overexpression of FGFR4 increased proliferation of RBE and QBC939 cells. Similarly, the invasion of CCA cells was increased in the presence of FGFR4, which may promote metastasis to lymph nodes or distal sites. However, a clear underlying mechanism of FGFR4 mediated proliferation, survival and migration in CCA is still unknown to-date <sup>96</sup>.

### **Targeting FGFR4 in cancer**

The role of FGFR4 in multiple cancers suggests that FGFR4 could be a potential therapeutic target. Currently, many research groups are developing potential therapeutic components against FGFR4. FGFR4 can be targeted via neutralizing monoclonal antibodies, antisense oligonucleotides, and small molecular inhibitors. Current monoclonal antibodies that target FGFR4 include U3-1784 and LD-1, which significantly reduced tumor cell proliferation and survival in both, in vitro and in vivo studies <sup>97</sup>. The U3-1784 is human antibody obtained with phage display technology has high affinity for FGFR4 and is known to inhibit the downstream signaling via FRS2 and p-ERK. However, recently published preclinical studies in the nonhuman primate (monkey model) suggested that treatment with U3-1784 antibody increased FGF19 levels, serum bile levels and certain liver enzymes that showed potential damage to the liver indicating side effects of U3-1784 <sup>98</sup>. Furthermore, the antibody therapeutic approach is more expensive compared to other targeted molecules. U3-1784 is currently in a Phase 1 clinical trial to study its efficacy to treat HCC and other advanced solid tumors <sup>99</sup>. Besides monoclonal antibodies, the antisense oligonucleotide ISIS-FGFR4RX has been developed to target FGFR4 mRNA. The efficacy of ISIS-FGFR4RX has not yet been determined in cancers but it is

currently in a Phase 1 clinical trial for obesity <sup>99</sup>. Due to adverse side effects of the FGFR4 antibody in preclinical trails, the small molecule inhibitor approach has gained more attention for targeting FGFR4 in cancer management.

Currently, pan-FGFR and FGFR4-selective inhibitors have been commercialized and their potency against FGFR4 has been determined in many solid cancers. BLU9931 was the first developed potent irreversible covalent FGFR4-selective inhibitor that binds with the Cys552 residue in the ATP binding pocket of intracellular tyrosine kinase residue. Since FGFR1-3 receptors lack a Cys552 residue, BLU9931 cannot bind with other FGFR family members <sup>78</sup>. The efficacy of BLU9931 was determined in HCC, colorectal cancer (CRC), head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) and breast cancer cell lines, in which, BLU9931 has shown efficient antitumor activity <sup>100, 101</sup>. Similarly, BLU554 is an modified version of BLU9931 compound, which showed potential therapeutic potency in solid cancers and is currently being evaluated in a Phase 1 clinical trial for HCC <sup>102</sup>. Furthermore, H3B-6527 is a covalent FGFR4-selective inhibitor that also binds with Cys552 in the ATP binding domain of kinase residues. This compound also showed potential effect against tumorigenesis of HCC cell lines and in *in vivo* models <sup>103</sup>. Another FGFR4 selective inhibitor, Roblitinib (FGF401), is a reversible covalent inhibitor of FGFR4 that interacts with Cys552 residue <sup>104</sup>. FGF401 has shown potent anti-cancer activity in a patient derived xenograft model of HCC <sup>104</sup>. Currently FGF401 is being evaluated under Phase 2 clinical trials for the treatment of HCC and other solid tumors <sup>99</sup>.

Furthermore, pan-FGFR4 inhibitors have affinity to block the downstream signaling of FGFR family members including FGFR1-4. PD173074 is a pan-FGFR inhibitor that interacts with the ATP pocket and inhibits FGFR1 <sup>105</sup>. It has been observed that PD173074 increased apoptosis in lung squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) cells within 96 hours <sup>105</sup>. Similarly, PD173074 also inhibited the proliferation of NSCLC cells that overexpress FGFR1 and FGFR2 <sup>106</sup>. BGJ398 is another pan-FGFR inhibitor that has a lower IC50 for

FGFR1-3 but slightly higher IC50 for FGFR4. The efficacy of BGJ398 was determined in MDA-MB-453 breast cancer cells, which exhibited higher expression of FGFR4. BGJ398 showed a dose-dependent effect on the cell proliferation and apoptosis via ERK and AKT inhibition respectively in Hep 3B HCC cells with relatively lower potency compared to the FGFR4-selective inhibitor, BLU9931<sup>107</sup>. Futibatinib is an irreversible inhibitor of FGFR proteins that binds with the ATP binding pocket of the intracellular kinase domain. Futibatinib inhibited cell proliferation in gastric cancer and bladder cancer cell lines as well as FGFR-driven human tumor xenograft models. The inhibitor has shown dose dependent tumor reduction in the rat xenograft model <sup>108</sup>. Pemigatinib is a pan-FGFR inhibitor that has a high potency for FGFR1-3 while very low potency for FGFR4. Pemigatinib has shown inhibition of FGFR signaling in vitro and in vivo in various cancer models. Pemigatinib recently recieved FDA approval for the treatment of FGFR2-fusion in CCA<sup>109</sup>. The Pemigatinib mainly inhibited expression of pERK in tumor cell lines that reduced FGFR pathway-dependent cell proliferation <sup>110</sup>. LY2874455 can inhibit FGFR family receptors with high potency. It has dose dependent inhibition of downstream signaling proteins such as ERK and AKT in FGFR4 expressing MDA-MB-453 cells, suggesting inhibition of FGFR4 mediated cancer cell proliferation and apoptosis <sup>78</sup>.

Recently, FGFR4 overexpression was observed in CCA patient samples. FGFR4 plays a crucial role in CCA cell proliferation and survival. In addition to FGFR4, a shorter fragment with a lower molecular weight band was also observed on immunoblot. The shorter fragment of FGFR4 was named R4-ICD (FGF<u>R4</u> intracellular domain) and contains the receptor tyrosine kinase domain. Since R4-ICD contains the ATP binding domain, it may be constitutively active and might play a critical role in cancer initiation and progression, independently from native full-length FGFR4 (Mohr, *et al*, unpublished).

In this study, we showed that overexpression of FGFR4 is associated with CCA progression. The activation of FGFR4 via FGF19 ligand led to the phosphorylation of

intracellular tyrosine kinase domain of FGFR4, which further activated downstream signaling proteins including ERK and AKT. The increased FGFR4 mediated cellular proliferation was dependent upon ERK and the increased cell survival was dependent upon AKT. Besides cellular proliferation and survival, FGFR4 also increased CCA cell migration, although the underlying mechanism of cellular migration is still unknown. The intracellular cleaved product of FGFR4 protein, R4-ICD, increased cell survival independent of AKT. Overall, FGFR4 and R4-ICD play a crucial role in CCA progression (Figure 2).



# Figure 2: FGFR4 and R4-ICD mediate cancer progression in CCA.

FGFR4 can be activated via FGF19 ligand, leading to activation of downstream signaling pathways including ERK and AKT that regulate cellular proliferation and survival of CCA cells. R4-ICD, an intracellular domain of FGFR4, lead to an increase in CCA cell survival, however the underlying mechanisms is still unknown (Image created with BioRender).

# Hypothesis and Objective:

In this study, we hypothesized that FGFR4 and R4-ICD play a role in cell proliferation,

cell survival and metastasis in cholangiocarcinoma (CCA).

# Specific aims:

# Specific aim 1: Determine the efficacy of FGFR4-selective and pan-FGFR inhibitor in CCA cell lines.

To test panel of FGFR4-selective and pan-FGFR inhibitors

- Perform proliferation assay
- Perform caspase assay
- Perform migration assay

# Specific aim 2: Generate FGFR4/R4-ICD expressing cells to determine the role of

# FGFR4/R4-ICD in CCA using *in vitro* and *in vivo* assay.

- Clone R4-ICD into pBABE-zeo vector with mammalian antibiotic resistance gene for zeocin.
- Determine the role of R4-ICD in cell proliferation, cell survival, and cell migration.
- Evaluate the downstream signaling of both FGFR4 and R4-ICD through immunoblotting.
- Determine the efficacy of FGFR4-selective inhibitors in R4-ICD expressing cells.

# **CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### Cell culture and reagents

Human cholangiocarcinoma cell lines, HuCCT-1, KMCH, and Mz-ChA-1 were kindly provided from Dr. Gregory Gores. The cells were cultured in complete growth media containing Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Thermo Fisher, Waltham, MA) medium with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (R&D system, Minneapolis, MN), 50 mg/mL G418, and 0.5 mg/mL insulin. The cells were incubated at 37°C with 5% carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>). Cells were passaged at 80-90% confluency using a 0.25% Trypsin-EDTA (Thermo Fisher) and cultured in tissue culture plates.

# **Development of R4-ICD-expressing cells**

### Selection of antibiotic concentration

A kill curve was generated to determine the optimal concentration of zeocin (Invitrogen, #R25001, Carlsbad, CA), a selection marker antibiotic in both, HuCCT-1 parental cells and KMCH shFGFR4 cells. The cells were seeded into a 6-well plate with a seeding density of 3 X  $10^3$  cells per well. A range (0, 100, 300, 500, 800, 1000 µg/mL) of zeocin concentration was prepared in complete growth media. The selection media was changed after every 2-3 days, and the cells were monitored for 10 days to observe complete cell death.

## Standard protocol for restriction digestion

Cloning vector pBABE-Zeo (Addgene, #1766) was used for cloning R4-ICD into HuCCT-1 and KMCH shFGFR4 cells. For restriction digests, 1 µg of plasmid was used using CutSmart buffer (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA), 1 µL of restriction enzymes (New England Biolabs) in a 50  $\mu$ L reaction. The reaction was incubated at 37°C for 60 minutes. After 30 minutes of incubation additional 1  $\mu$ L of restriction enzyme was added. Furthermore, the reaction was heat inactivated at 65-80°C temperature for 20 minutes.

# Standard ligation protocol

Sticky and blunt-end DNA ligation was performed using 1:3 ratio of Vector:Insert. The vector and insert were incubated with 10X T4 DNA ligase buffer and 1  $\mu$ L of T4 DNA ligase enzyme (New England Biolabs, #M0202S). The ligation reaction (20  $\mu$ L) mix was incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes and the enzyme was heat inactivated at 65°C for 15 minutes.

# Standard transformation protocol

After the completion of ligation, One Shot<sup>™</sup> TOP10 Chemically Competent *E. coli* (ThermoFisher,Scientific # 404003, Waltham, MA) were thawed on ice, 3.33 µL of ligation reaction was added, and the tubes were incubated on ice for 30 minutes. After incubation, the competent cells were subjected to heat shock at 42°C for 30 seconds. Next, the cells were placed on ice for a minute and 250 µL of super optimal broth (SOC) media (Invitrogen, #15544-034) was added. The competent cells in SOC media were incubated at 37°C while shaking for 1 hour. Agar plates containing 50 of µg/mL ampicillin were prewarmed at 37°C. The SOC media containing competent cells (75 µL) was plated on the agar plates and incubated overnight at 37°C. After incubation, isolated single colonies were picked using sterile p10 tips and incubated overnight with 3 mL of ampicillin (1:1000) containing lysogeny broth (LB broth). Lastly, the plasmid was isolated using Monarch Plasmid Miniprep Kit (NEW ENGLAND Biolabs, #T1010S) according to manufacturer's protocol.

# Cloning strategy

The construct containing FGFR4 (pmscvFL-FGFR4-deltaPA) was generously provided by Dr. Javed Khan (National Cancer Institute) and previously used to generate an R4-ICD construct pcDNA.FLAG.HA.R4.ICD.WT. However, the selection marker needed to be altered to zeocin (pBABE-zeo). To generate a construct with R4-ICD, we first cloned in a polyA signal into the backbone plasmid (pBABE-zeo). To amplify the bGH polyA tail and to introduce the Notl restriction enzyme site (needed for subsequent cloning of R4-ICD), polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed. The PCR product was run on a 1% agarose gel to ensure a single band of the appropriate size measured against a 100 bp ladder. Later, the bGH insert was gel purified using QIAquick Gel Extraction (QIAGEN, #28704, Hilden Germany). The bGH polyA tail was inserted into the TOPO TA PCR 2.1, and the vector was transformed into chemical competent E. coli cells using the standard transformation protocol as mentioned above. The competent E. coli cell suspension was seeded into the agar plate containing ampicillin and grown overnight at 37 °C. After incubation, the isolated colonies were picked and cultured overnight into LB broth medium containing 50 of µg/mL ampicillin. The plasmid was isolated using the Monarch Plasmid Miniprep Kit. The diagnostic digest was performed with the TOPO 2.1 TA bGH vector using EcoRI restriction enzyme and run on a 1.5% of agarose gel. The positive vector had a band at 3913 bp and 269 bp. The 269 bp band was cut from the gel and gel purified. Later, the recipient vector (pBABE-Zeo) was cut with EcoRI restriction enzyme and treated with shrimp alkaline phosphatase (rSAP). The gel purified bGH poly A from TOPO TA PCR 2.1 vector was introduced into linearized pBABE-Zeo vector. The standard transformation protocol was followed to grow the transformed E. coli cells and to isolate plasmids. Lastly, pBABE-Zeo.bGH was digested with SnaBI and XhoI and rSAP. The R4-ICD fragment was cut from pcDNA.FLAG.HA.R4.ICD.WT using XhoI and NruI (4683 bp and 2050 bp) and the 2050 bp DNA inserted into pBABE-Zeo.bGH using T4

ligase and plasmid was isolated via standard transformation. Positive clones were identified using restriction digestion analysis with SacII and SnaB1. The plasmid size was tested for expected bands at 5963 bp and 1147 bp on 1% agarose gel. The positive clones were identified using the restriction digestion analysis and sequencing with primers flanking the insert and one within the insert (pBABE 5', pBABE 3' and pCDNA FLAG HA Fwd).

#### Stable transfection protocol

Stable transfection was performed in HuCCT-1 parental and KMCH shFGFR4 cells. Cells were seeded into a 6-well plate with a seeding density of 3 X 10<sup>5</sup> cells/well. After 24 hours, the linearized plasmid (pBABE-Zeo.bGH.R4-ICD) was induced using lipofectamine 3000 (Invitrogen, #100022050). The plasmid was linearized using Scal at 37°C for 1 hour and heat inactivated at 80 °C for 20 minutes. To prepare the lipofectamine reagents, first, 125 µL of Opti-MEM media was mixed with 3.75 µL of lipofectamine reagent. Secondly, 125 µL of Opti-MEM media, 10 µL of P300 and 1 µg linearized DNA (50 µL) were mixed. Both of these reagents were mixed and incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes. After the incubation, the DNA: lipofectamine mixture was added into each well. Cells without DNA (lipofectamine only), empty vector (pBABE-Zeo) and R4-ICD plasmid (pBABE-Zeo.bGH.R4-ICD) were considered for all of the transfection experiments. Transfection media was removed after 24 hours, and cells were subjected to zeocin antibiotic containing media (800 µg/mL zeocin concentration for HuCCT-1 cells and 500 µg/mL zeocin concentration for KMCH shFGFR4 cells). Once cells reached 85-90% confluency, they were transferred into a 10 cm dish using complete growth media (without antibiotic), which was replaced with the selection media after 24 hours. Individual colonies were picked and seeded into a 96 well plate. Positive clones were determined

via immunoblotting using FGFR4 antibody (Cell Signaling TECHNOLOGY, #8562S, Danvers, MA).

# **Cell Proliferation Assay**

Cell proliferation was determined by methylene blue stained based assay <sup>111</sup>. Cells were seeded at 2 X 10<sup>3</sup> density per well into a 96 well plate overnight. Cells were treated with the required treatment (FGFR4-selective inhibitor or pan-FGFR inhibitor) and maintained at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Each inhibitor was used at a specific concentration as follow: FGFR4 selective inhibitors including (i) BLU9931 (3 µM). (MiliporeSigma, #L1003) (ii) Roblitinib (3 μM), (Selleck Chemicals, #S8548, Houston, TX) (iii) H3B-6527 (1 μM), (Selleck Chemicals, #S8675) and (iv) Blu554 (5 μM) (Selleck Chemicals, #8503) as well as pan-FGFR inhibitors including (i) PD173074 (3 µM) (Selleck Chemicals, #S1264) and (ii) BGJ398 (5 µM) (Selleck Chemicals, #S2183). For each treatment (+/- inhibitor), eight technical replicates were considered. In control group, cells were treated with the vehicle (DMSO) without any inhibitors. After the treatment, cells were washed with 1X PBS (pH 7.4) and fixed with 10% formalin at 0, 24, 48,72 and 96 hours. Next, the fixed cells were stained using 80 µM 1% methylene solution prepared in 0.01 M borate buffer for 2 hours. After staining, each well was washed with 150  $\mu$ M of 0.01 M of borate buffer (pH 8.5), for four times. Once excess dye was washed off, the remining stained was eluted for 30 minutes using 100 µM of elution buffer containing 95% v/v ethanol and 0.1 M HCL. The absorbance was measured at 650 nm.

### Cell Survival Assays

# <u>Caspase assay</u>

Apo-ONE Homogeneous Caspase-Glo 3/7 assay kit (Promega Corporation, Madison, WI) was used to determine caspase 3 and caspase 7 activity. The caspase 3/7 assay kit is based on the detection cleaved substrate rate by monitoring the rate of rhodamine 110 using a specific excitation (475 nm) and emission wavelength (525 nm). HuCCT-1, HuCCT-1 clones, KMCH and KMCH shFGFR4 cells were seeded in 96 well plates with a seeding density of 1 X 10<sup>5</sup> cells/well at 37°C overnight. The next day, cells were treated with vehicle and/or specific inhibitors such as 0.003 µM to 30 µM concentration of BLU9931 and 1 µM concentration of Akt Inhibitor VIII, (Santa Cruz, sc-202048) for 24 hours. For the final 6 hours of treatment, TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) (R&D system #375-7L) was added (positive cell death control). For each treatment four technical replicates were considered. Following treatment, the Apo-ONE Caspase assay was performed according to manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, the Caspase Substrate Z-DEVD-R110 was prepared using a 1:100 ratio in the Apo-ONE® Homogeneous Caspase-3/7 substrate and Buffer (Promega, #G777A and #G778A). After completion of the treatment, 170 µL of media was removed from each well and 30 µL of prepared caspase reagent was added. The plate was wrapped in an aluminum foil and stored in dark for 1.5 hours at room temperature. Once the incubation was over, the fluorescence was measured at the optimal excitation wavelength of 475 nm and emission wavelength of 525 nm.

# Apoptotic nuclei assay

The detection of dead cells using 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) was performed as follows. Cells were seeded in a 24 well plate with a seeding density of 5 X  $10^5$  cells per well. The cells were incubated overnight at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cell death

was indued using TRAIL for 6 hours. After incubation, the cells were stained by adding 1  $\mu$ L of a 5  $\mu$ g/mL stock of DAPI, incubated for 5 minutes at 37°C and imaged using fluorescence microscope. Positive apoptotic nuclei showed condensed or fragmented nuclear staining and reported as a percentage of total cells per field.

# Migration assay

Transwell inserts with 6.5 mm diameter of transwell with 8.0  $\mu$ m pore size (MilliPORE SiGMa, #CLS3422, Burlington, MA) was used to determine cell migration. In the upper chamber, cells with a seeding density of 1 X 10<sup>4</sup> cells / transwell were seeded using 100  $\mu$ L of serum free media. The inhibitor treatment was given in the upper chamber with serum free media. The bottom chamber was filled with 600  $\mu$ L serum containing media (10% FBS), which touched the bottom of the transwell membrane. For each treatment, three technical replicates were considered. The plate was incubated at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 8-24 hours (HuCCT-1 cells) and 24 hours (KMCH cells). After the incubation, the inserts were washed with PBS and excess media was removed using cotton tipped applicator. The insert was fixed and stained using KWIK-DIFF stain kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, catalog 9990701). The inserts were dipped into each solution for 20 times and washed with DI water in between. The inserts were air-dried at room temperature and counted under an inverted microscope.

# Immunoblotting

Cells were collected at 70-80% confluency and washed using PBS. After removing PBS, the cells were lysed with lysis buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM dithiothreitol, 1 mM  $\alpha$ -phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 1 mM Na3VO4, 100 mM NaF, protease inhibitor (Roche) and 1% Triton X-100 (pH 7.4). The cells were scraped

in lysis buffer and transferred into 1.5 mL tubes and kept on ice. The cell lysates were centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 15 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant was collected into sterile 1.5 mL tubes. The protein was quantified using Bradford reagent (200 µL of Bradford reagent with 6 µL of protein). The protein guantification was performed against the standard curve using Nanodrop. After quantification, 50 µg of protein (for KMCH and KMCH sHFGFR4 cell lysate) and 25 µg of protein (for HuCCT-1 and HuCCT-1 clone lysate) was aliguoted. The samples were diluted using lysis buffer and 5X laemmili with Dithiothreitol (DTT) to make total volume of 35 µL. Next, the samples were boiled at 95°C for five minutes. The samples were loaded into 10% SAD-PAGE gel (ThermoFisher Scientific, #XP00100BOX) and run at 110 V for 1.5 hours. Next the protein was transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, blocked using 5% non-fat dried milk mixed in 1X TBST, and incubated overnight with primary antibody (1:1000). Next, the blot was washed with 1X TBST for three times, 20 minutes each followed by addition of secondary antibody. The secondary antibody was washed by 1X TBST for three times, 20 minutes each. The blot was developed with SuperSignal West Pico PLUS Chemiluminescent substrate (1:1 ratio) (Thermo SCIENTIFIC, #34580), for 1 minute and developed with the film. The specific protein was verified against the molecular weight marker (BIO-RAD, #161-0374, Hercules, CA). The FGFR4 antibody (Cell Signaling TECHNOLOGY, #8562S, Danvers, MA) recognizes the intracellular domain of the receptor protein. Other antibodies used were pAKT, Thr-308 (Cell Signaling TECHNOLOGY, #2965S, tAKT (Cell Signaling TECHNOLOGY, #4691S), pERK (Cell Signaling TECHNOLOGY, #9101S), tERK (Cell Signaling TECHNOLOGY, #4695S), pSTAT3 (Cell Signaling TECHNOLOGY, #9134S), tSTAT3 (Cell Signaling TECHNOLOGY, #12640).

# **CHAPTER 3: RESULTS**

FGFR4 is overexpressed in many cancer types including breast cancer, HCC, and colorectal cancer, and previous studies have shown that the overexpression of FGFR4 plays a crucial role in cancer progression <sup>73</sup>. This project focused on determining the expression of FGFR4 in cholangiocarcinoma. Previously, a panel of CCA tumor samples were analyzed for FGFR4 expression (Phillips, et al., in preparation). This analysis showed that the majority of the CCA patient samples over-expressed FGFR4. In addition to the FGFR4, all of the tumor samples had higher expression of fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 intracellular domain (R4-ICD), a lower molecular weight (45-50 kDa) cleaved product of FGFR4. To investigate the role of FGFR4, the expression of FGFR4 in CCA cell lines was first evaluated. Immunoblot analysis of the panel of CCA cell lines showed that KMCH had highest expression of FGFR4 while Mz-ChA-1 had moderate level of FGFR4 (Figure 3A). However, HuCCT-1 had no detectable amount of FGFR4 on immunoblot analysis (Figure 3A). The KMCH cells are human cell lines that are derived from a patient with a tumor showing histologic features of combined HCC and CCA (in culture, KMCH cells consistently display a CCA-type phenotype). The KMCH cells showed highest expression of FGFR4. The Mz-ChA-1 is a malignant biliary epithelial cell line and showed moderate amount of FGFR4 expression on immunoblot. Lastly, HuCCT-1, derived from a patient with intrahepatic CCA (iCCA), did not show any expression of endogenous FGFR4.


#### Figure 3: FGFR4 expression in CCA cells

**(A)** FGFR4 protein expression in three CCA parental cell lines KMCH, Mz-ChA-1, and HuCCT-1. **(B)** Two shRNAs targeting FGFR4 were tested (shRNA 419 and 510) in KMCH cells, compared to shRNA against GFP (knockdown control). **(C)** Parental HuCCT-1 cells were modified to stably express FGFR4, HuCCT-1 FGFR4 (stable clone of FGFR4), or HuCCT-1 EV2 (empty vector control).

## Role of FGFR4 in CCA cell proliferation, survival and migration

To understand the role of FGFR4 in KMCH cells, RNA interference (short hairpin RNA) based silencing was used to knockdown FGFR4 expression. Immunoblot analysis results indicated the absence of FGFR4 as well as its cleaved product R4-ICD in KMCH shFGFR4 510.F4 cells (Figure 3B) (the FGFR4 antibody recognizes the c-terminus of the protein). The shFGFR4 510.F4 cells were used throughout this study as they show strong knockdown of FGFR4. Next, FGFR4 was stably cloned in HuCCT-1 cells, which inherently do not express FGFR4 (Figure 3C). Stable expression of FGFR4 in the cloned HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells was detected via western blot analysis (Figure 3C). Moreover, the empty

vector cells HuCCT-1 EV2 were transfected with an empty puromycin plasmid, which did not show expression of FGFR4 or R4-ICD, as predicted, and were used as control (**Figure 3C**). To determine the role of FGFR4 in cell proliferation, a methylene blue proliferation assay was performed. HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells showed similar cellular proliferation as HuCCT-1 parental cells (control) at 24 hours. However, HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells showed significantly increased cell proliferation at 48, 72 and 96 hours compared to HuCCT-1 parental cells (control) (p < 0.001) (**Figure 4A**). Similarly, HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells showed significantly higher proliferation compared to HuCCT-1 EV2 cells at 72 and 96 hours (p < 0.001) (**Figure 4B**). Overall, the HuCCT-1 cell line provides a useful cell model to modulate FGFR4 levels and increased FGFR4 promoted increased proliferation.





Comparison of cellular proliferation between (A) HuCCT-1 FGFR4 clones and HuCCT-1 parental cells, and (B) HuCCT-1 FGFR4 clones with empty vector HuCCT-1 EV2 cells from 0 to 96 hours (\*\*\* p < 0.001). Each experiment was performed two times, n=8.

The role of FGFR4 in cell survival was investigated by determining caspase 3/7 activity in HuCCT-1 EV2 and HUCCT-1 FGFR4 cells with or without TRAIL sensitization (Figure 5A). Caspase activity was used as a marker for apoptosis. It was observed that HuCCT-1 EV2 cells were more sensitive to TRAIL-induced apoptosis compared to HuCCT-1 cells expressing FGFR4. TRAIL-treated HuCCT-1 EV2 cells showed significantly higher caspase 3/7 activity (p < 0.01) compared to the HUCCT-1 FGFR4 cells

(Figure 5A). The magnitude of protection was small, so we extended our investigation to test the effect of knockdown of FGFR4 from KMCH cells. To determine cell survival in KMCH cells, DAPI staining (for apoptotic nuclei) was performed following 6 hours of TRAIL sensitization. Cells which lack FGFR4, KMCH shFGFR4, were sensitive to TRAIL induced apoptosis (p < 0.001) while the KMCH shGFP cells were resistant (Figure 5B). In general, HuCCT-1 cells (which endogenously lack FGFR4) are sensitive to TRAIL-induced apoptosis while the KMCH cells (FGFR4 expressing) are more resistant to TRAIL-induced cell death. These data showed that FGFR4 expression protected HuCCT-1 and KMCH cells from TRAIL induced apoptosis.



Figure 5: FGFR4 protects against TRAIL-induced cell death.

(A) Caspase 3/7 activity in HuCCT-1 EV2 (lacking FGFR4), and HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells with or without 6 hours of TRAIL treatment (vehicle: white bar, TRAIL: gray bar) (\*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001). (B) DAPI staining for apoptotic nuclei was performed with KMCH shGFP (expressing FGFR4) and KMCH shFGFR4 cells with 6 hours of TRAIL treatment (\*\*\*p < 0.001). **A** was performed three times, n=4, and **B** was performed once, n=3.

Lastly, a transwell cell migration assay was performed to examine the role of FGFR4 in cell migration. HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells showed significantly increased cell migration compared to HuCCT-1 parental cells (p < 0.001) after 8 hours (Figure 6A). However, surprisingly HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells showed no difference in cell migration

compared to HuCCT-1 EV2 cells after 24 hours (Figure 6B). In each replicate, we found that the number of migrated cells could vary substantially, so results were always compared within the same experiment (e.g., more HuCCT-1 parental cells migrated in the experiment depicted in panel B compared to the experiment in panel A, despite using the same HuCCT-1 parental cell line in both). We discuss below the potential effect of clonal variability, on the migration phenotype (and others) and sought additional experimental evidence that FGFR4 regulated migration. FGFR4-knockdown KMCH cells (KMCH shFGFR4) cells showed significantly reduced cell migration compared to parental KMCH cells (p < 0.01) (Figure 6C). Overall, FGFR4 appears to increase cell migration in KMCH and HuCCT-1 cells.



Figure 6: FGFR4 expression alters CCA cell migration in vitro.

(A) Transwell cell migration assay indicates migration of parental HuCCT-1 and HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells toward serum containing media after 8 hours. (B) Transwell cell migration assay indicates migration of parental HuCCT-1, HuCCT-1 EV2 and HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells toward serum containing media after 24 hours. (C) Transwell migration assay indicating the role of FGFR4 in KMCH cell migration after 24 hours of treatment (\*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001). A, B and C were performed two times, n=3.

#### Determining the efficacy of small molecule inhibitors in CCA cell proliferation

To target FGFR4 in CCA cell lines, small molecule inhibitors that selectively target FGFR4 (BLU9931, Roblitinib, and H3B6527) or pan-FGFR inhibitors that target all FGFR family members (BGJ398, PD173074) were used. The efficacy of the FGFR4-selective and pan-FGFR inhibitors was determined using methylene blue cell proliferation assay. KMCH cell proliferation was significantly reduced with treatment of 3  $\mu$ M of BLU9931 at 24 (p < 0.05), 48 (p < 0.05), 72 (p < 0.001) and 96 hours (p < 0.001) (**Figure 7A**). However, two other FGFR4-selective inhibitors, Roblitinib (1  $\mu$ M and 3  $\mu$ M) and H3B6527 (1  $\mu$ M), did not reduce KMCH cell proliferation compared to control (**Figure 7B-D**). Pan-FGFR inhibitors BGJ398 and PD173074 significantly reduced KMCH cell proliferation at 72 and 96 hours (p < 0.001) (**Figure 7E-F**). These results indicated that among above mentioned inhibitors, FGFR4-selective inhibitor BLU9931 as well as the two pan-FGFR4 inhibitors, BGJ398 and PD173074, can effectively inhibit KMCH cell proliferation and therefore were selected for use in further experiments.



Figure 7: Pan-FGFR4 inhibitors and FGFR4-selective inhibitor BLU9931 reduced KMCH cell proliferation.

Comparison of cellular proliferation between control (DMSO) and FGFR4-selective inhibitors **(A)** BLU9931 (3  $\mu$ M), **(B)** Roblinitib (1  $\mu$ M) **(C)** Roblinitib (3  $\mu$ M) **(D)** H3B-6527 (1  $\mu$ M) from 0 to 96 hours. Comparison of cellular proliferation between control (DMSO) and pan-FGFR inhibitors **(E)** BGJ398 (5  $\mu$ M), and **(F)** PD173074 (5  $\mu$ M) from 0 to 96 hours (\**p* < 0.05, \*\**p* < 0.01, \*\*\**p* < 0.001). Each experiment was performed three times, n=8.

HuCCT-1 parental and HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells treated with BLU9931 showed significantly reduced cell proliferation at 72 (p < 0.001) and 96 hours (p < 0.001) (Figure 8A & 8D). Pan-FGFR inhibitors, PD173074 and BGJ398, significantly reduced HuCCT-1 and HuCCT-1 FGFR4 proliferation at 48 (p < 0.001 for HuCCT-1), 72 (p < 0.001) and 96 hours (p < 0.001) (Figure 8B, 8C, 8E, 8F). These results indicate that the FGFR4-selective inhibitor, BLU9931, may be exhibiting off-target effects as the FGFR4 non-expressing HuCCT-1 cells had a reduction in proliferation.



Figure 8: FGFR4-selective and pan-FGFR inhibitors reduced proliferation in parental HuCCT-1 and HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells.

Comparison of HuCCT-1 proliferation between control (DMSO) and FGFR4-selective inhibitors (A) BLU9931 (3  $\mu$ M), as well as pan-FGFR4 inhibitors (B) PD173074 (5  $\mu$ M) and (C) BGJ398 (5  $\mu$ M) from 0 to 96 hours. Comparison of HuCCT-1 FGFR4 proliferation between control (DMSO) and FGFR4-selective inhibitors (D) BLU9931 (3  $\mu$ M), as well as pan-FGFR4 inhibitors (E) PD173074 (5  $\mu$ M) and (F) BGJ398 (5  $\mu$ M) from 0 to 96 hours (\*\*\*p < 0.001). Each experiment was performed twice, n=8.

Moreover, BLU9931, PD173074 and BGJ398 showed significantly reduced proliferation of Mz-ChA-1 cells at 48, 72 (p < 0.001) and 96 hours (p < 0.001), which expressed moderate levels of FGFR4 (**Figure 9A-C**). Overall, FGFR4-selective and pan-FGFR small molecule inhibitors reduced proliferation, even in cells lacking FGFR4. This

effect in HuCCT-1 cells was unexpected, but consistent among the three inhibitors used (BLU9931, BGJ398, and PD173074). These data indicate that the FGFR4-selective inhibitor and pan-FGFR inhibitors may regulate pathways other than FGFR4. Previous data (not shown) reveal that KMCH cells express FGFR1, FGFR3 and FGFR4 and HuCCT-1 cells express FGFR1 (expression of FGFR2 and FGFR3 were not tested). Combined with data from Figure 4, these experiments suggest that FGFR4, and potentially an additional unidentified kinase or target, contribute to cholangiocarcinoma proliferation.





Comparison of Mz-ChA-1 proliferation between control (DMSO) and FGFR4-selective inhibitors (A) BLU9931 (3  $\mu$ M), as well as pan-FGFR4 inhibitors (B) PD173074 (5  $\mu$ M) and (C) BGJ398 (5  $\mu$ M) from 0 to 96 hours (\*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001). Each experiment was performed twice, n=8.

#### Effect of small molecule inhibitors in CCA cell apoptosis

To determine the effect of FGFR4-selective inhibitor BLU9931 in KMCH cell survival, caspase 3/7 activity was used as a marker of cell death (apoptosis). The caspase 3/7 activity in KMCH cells treated with BLU9931 at 0.003  $\mu$ M, 0.03  $\mu$ M, 0.3  $\mu$ M, 3  $\mu$ M and 30  $\mu$ M was measured and compared with vehicle (DMSO). The FGFR4-selective inhibitor BLU9931 significantly sensitized KMCH cells at 3-30  $\mu$ M in the presence of TRAIL (*p* < 0.001) (Figure 10). BLU9931 at 30  $\mu$ M concentration also caused higher caspase 3/7 activity without TRAIL, indicating cytotoxic effects of BLU9931 at 30  $\mu$ M (Figure 10).





Caspase 3/7 activity was measured in KMCH cells treated with FGFR4-selective inhibitor BLU9931 at 0.003  $\mu$ M, 0.03  $\mu$ M, 0.3  $\mu$ M, 3  $\mu$ M and 30  $\mu$ M concentration (24 hours), with or without 6 hours of TRAIL treatment (\*\*\*p < 0.001). This experiment was performed twice, n=4.

# Additional pan-FGFR inhibitors were tested for their efficacy on KMCH cell apoptosis

To determine the effect of pan-FGFR inhibitors Futibatinib, Pemigatinib and LY2874455 in KMCH cell survival, caspase 3/7 activity was measured. The inhibitors were considered at 0.1  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M concentration and caspase activity was measured after 6 hours (Figure 11) and 24 hours (Figure 12) of treatment with and without TRAIL. After 6 Hours of treatment, Futibatinib showed slightly increased caspase 3/7 activity at 10  $\mu$ M (p < 0.001) in KMCH cells (Figure 11A). Pemigatinib (at 0.1  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M concentrations) showed no difference in caspase activity compared to vehicle, with or without TRAIL treatment (Figure 11B). LY2874455 had significantly increased (p < 0.001) caspase 3/7 activity in KMCH cells after 6 hours of TRAIL sensitization (Figure 11C).



# Figure 11: Additional pan-FGFR inhibitors were tested for efficacy using caspase 3/7 activity assay in parental KMCH cells after 6 hours of treatment.

The efficacy of pan-FGFR inhibitors Futibatinib (A), Pemigatinib (B), and LY2874455 (C) to promote caspase 3/7 activity at 0.1  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M concentration during 6 hours of treatment, with or without 6 hours of TRAIL treatment in KMCH parental cells (\*\*\*p < 0.001) n=4.

After 24 hours of treatment, Futibatinib showed no apoptosis sensitization at 0.1 and 1  $\mu$ M of concentration in the presence of TRAIL while 10  $\mu$ M of Futibatinib with or without TRAIL increased the caspase 3/7 activity after 24 hours, indicating toxicity (Figure 12A). Pemigatinib had no effect on the caspase 3/7 activity of KMCH cells at 0.1 and 1  $\mu$ M of concentration. However, Pemigatinib at 10  $\mu$ M concentration with TRAIL significantly increased caspase 3/7 activity compared to vehicle (Figure 12B). The LY2874455 at 0.1  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M concentration had dose dependent increase in caspase 3/7 activity compared to the vehicle without TRAIL sensitization (Figure 12C).

Similarly, LY2874455 at 0.1  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M concentration also showed dose dependent caspase 3/7 activation after 6 hours to TRAIL sensitization (Figure 12C).



#### Effect of FGFR small molecule inhibitors in CCA cell migration

Previously it was observed that FGFR4-expressing parental KMCH cells showed increased cell migration compared to FGFR4-knockdown KMCH shFGFR4 (Figure 6C). Similarly, HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells showed significantly increased cell migration compared to HuCCT-1 cells (p < 0.001) (Figure 6A). Based on these observations, 3  $\mu$ M of BLU9931 and 5 µM of pan-FGFR inhibitors PD173074 and BGJ398 were used to determine if small-molecule FGFR4 inhibition reduced cell migration in both KMCH and HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells. It was observed that all of the inhibitors, BLU9931, PD173074 and BGJ398 significantly reduced the number of migrated HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells compared to the vehicle after 8 hours of treatment (p < 0.01) (Figure 13A). Next, treatment with PD173074 (p < 0.01) and BGJ398 (p < 0.001) significantly reduced KMCH cell migration compared to vehicle (DMSO) after 24 hours of treatment (Figure 13B). BLU9931 treatment showed variable results in the inhibition of KMCH cell migration. BLU9931 at 3 µM concentration had no significant reduction in KMCH cell migration at 24 hours (Figure **13B)** while the same treatment significantly reduced the KMCH cell migration at 24 hours (p < 0.1) (Figure 13C). Overall, the data suggests that BLU9931, PD173074 and BGJ398 significantly inhibited cell migration of KMCH and HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells, however further investigation into the specific pathway of BLU9931 is needed.



Figure 13: FGFR4-selective inhibitor, BLU9931 and pan-FGFR inhibitors (PD173074 and BGJ398) reduced cell migration.

The efficacy of BLU9931 (3  $\mu$ M), PD173074 (5  $\mu$ M), and BGJ398 (5  $\mu$ M), was compared with vehicle (DMSO) to inhibit cell migration after 8 hours of treatment in **(A)** HuCCT-1 FGFR4 clone and **(B)** and **(C)** parental KMCH cells after 24 hours. (\*p < 0.1, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001) Each experiment was performed twice, n=3.

# Cloning strategy for the stable expression of R4-ICD in HuCCT-1 and KMCH shFGFR4 cells

To investigate the role of R4-ICD in CCA, R4-ICD was stably cloned in HuCCT-1 cells, which endogenously do not express either FGFR4 or R4-ICD. We included the selectable antibiotic resistance gene for zeocin to allow selection of transfected cells by growth in antibiotic-containing media. The optimal antibiotic concentration for selection of resistant clones was determined using kill curve assay. HuCCT-1 and KMCH parental

cells showed loss of viability at 800 mg/mL and 500 mg/mL of zeocin antibiotic respectively.

The overall strategy to incorporate R4-ICD into a plasmid with a new selection marker (zeocin) is described below. First, the neither the zeocin vector nor our plasmid containing R4-ICD contained a polyA signal. To start the cloning process, the bGH polyA signal from pcDNA.FLAG.HA.R4.ICD.WT. was inserted into TOPO TA 2.1. The TOPO TA 2.1 vector was digested with EcoRI and run on 1% agarose gel (Figure 14A) and the 269 bp band was gel purified. Next, the pBABE-zeo was digested with EcoRI, rSAP treated to remove phosphate groups from the 5' end and run on 1% gel to confirm the single band at 4811 bp. The gel extracted bGH polyA tail was ligated with EcoRI treated pBABE-zeo. The resulting plasmid, pBABE-zeo.bGH was confirmed by diagnostic digest with Xmnl, XhoI, and SpeI for both size and orientation of the insert. The positive clone of pBABEzeo.bGH was expected to have bands at 3362, 932 and 786 bp on 1% agarose gel (Figure 14B). One positive clone with the bGH polyA insert was identified by diagnostic digest and was digested with SnaBI, XhoI and rSAP treated. The pcDNA.FLAG.HA.R4.ICD.WT. plasmid (previously generated to include amino acids 391-802 of FGFR4 after an Nterminal HA/FLAG epitope tag) was digested with Xhol and Nrul. A 2050 bp (R4-ICD) band was gel extracted. The R4-ICD fragment was ligated into pBABE-zeo.bGH. Colonies were digested with SnaBI and SacII (Figure 14C). The positive pBABE-zeo.bGH.R4-ICD clone was identified by diagnostic digest and sequencing was done to confirm the sequence of R4-ICD using pBABE 5', pBABE 3' and pcDNA FLAG HA Fwd primers (Figure 14D). HuCCT-1 cells were transfected with pBABE-zeo.bGH.R4-ICD plasmid or an empty vector plasmid (pBABE-zeo). Subsequent clonal selection and immunoblotting was performed to validate the expression of R4-ICD. R4-ICD transfected HuCCT-1 cells (R4-ICD.C3 and R4-ICD.C6) showed single band at 50-60 kDa against FGFR4 antibody



on immunoblot (Figure 14E), consistent with the epitope-tagged R4-ICD. The level of exogenous R4-ICD is comparable to that of cleaved R4-ICD in the HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells.







Figure 14: Cloning strategy to generate pBABE-zeo.bGH.R4-ICD.

(A) Diagnostic digest indicating one positive clone with 269 bp band (bGH polyA) on 1% agarose gel. (B) Diagnostic digest of pBABE-zeo.bGH with bands at 3362, 932 and 786 bp on 1% agarose gel. (C) Diagnostic digest of pBABE-zeo.bGH.R4-ICD with bands at 5963 and 1147b bp on 1% agarose gel. (D) The sequencing result of pBABE-zeo R4-ICD bGH with pBABE 5, pBABE 3' and pcDNA FLAG HA Fwd primers. (E) Immunoblot analysis showing the expression of R4-ICD in HuCCT-1 cells.

#### Role of R4-ICD in cell proliferation

To determine the role of R4-ICD on CCA proliferation, methylene blue cell proliferation assay was performed using HuCCT-1 R4-ICD-expressing stable positive clones R4-ICD.C3 and R4-ICD.C6. In addition, previously generated HuCCT-1 R4-ICD.PB1 cells transfected with pcDNA.FLAG.HA.R4.ICD.WT were included, which showed R4-ICD expression on immunoblot (see below for R4-ICD expression). Methylene blue proliferation assay results indicated that the HuCCT-1 FGFR4 and HuCCT-1 R4-ICD.PB1 cells had significantly higher proliferation compared to empty vector EV2 cells (*p* < 0.001) (Figure 15A). However, R4-ICD.C3 showed no difference in cell proliferation, while R4-ICD.C6 showed reduced cell proliferation compared to the empty vector cells (EV2) (Figure 15A). Currently, results are mixed whether R4-ICD can support cell proliferation.

#### Role of R4-ICD in cell survival

To investigate the role of R4-ICD in cell apoptosis, caspase 3/7 activity was measured in HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells, R4-ICD-expressing HuCCT-1 clones (R4-ICD.C3, R4-ICD.C6 and R4-ICD.PB1) with or without TRAIL sensitization. Parental HuCCT-1 cells are sensitive to TRAIL-induced apoptosis, while HuCCT-1 FGFR4 significantly protected CCA cells from apoptosis by reducing caspase3/7 activity (p < 0.01) (Figure 15B). Importantly, R4-ICD-expressing clones R4-ICD.PB1, R4-ICD.C3 and R4-ICD.C6 showed significantly reduced caspase 3/7 activity compared to HuCCT-1 EV2 cells (p < 0.001) (Figure 15B). Thus, both full-length FGFR4 and R4-ICD could protect from TRAIL-induced apoptosis.

### Role of R4-ICD in cell migration

The HuCCT-1 R4-ICD cell migration was determined using a transwell migration assay. HuCCT-1 parental cells, empty vector HuCCT-1 EV2 cells, HuCCT-1 FGFR4, R4-ICD.C3, R4-ICD.C6 and R4-ICD.PB1 cells were each evaluated for their migratory potential. HuCCT-1 EV2 cells unexpectedly showed the highest cell migration at 24 hours while HuCCT-1 FGFR4, R4-ICD.C3, R4-ICD.C6 and R4-ICD.PB1 cells showed reduced cell migration compared to empty vector (HuCCT-1 EV2) cells, but increased migration compared to HuCCT-1 parental cells (Figure 15C). Thus, R4-ICD likely supports cholangiocarcinoma cell migration, though effects of clonal variation may complicate this interpretation.



#### Figure 15: The role of R4-ICD in cellular proliferation, apoptosis and migration.

(A) Methylene blue cell proliferation assay compares proliferation of HuCCT-1 EV2, HuCCT-1 FGFR4 and HuCCT-1 R4I-CD clones from 0 to 96 hours. n=8. (B) Caspase 3/7 activity in HuCCT-1 EV2, HuCCT-1 FGFR4, and HuCCT-1 R4-ICD clones after 24 hours with or without 6 hours of TRAIL treatment. n=4. (C) Transwell cell migration assay indicates migration of HuCCT-1 parental, EV2, HuCCT-1 FGFR4, HuCCT-1 R4-ICD clones toward serum containing media after 24 hours (n.s.). n=3. (\*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001). Each experiment was performed twice.

#### Determine the role of AKT downstream of FGFR4/R4-ICD signaling

To determine the role R4-ICD mediated cell survival of CCA via downstream AKT mediated signaling, an Akt Inhibitor at 1  $\mu$ M (AKTi) was used in the presence and absence of TRAIL (6 hours). The caspase 3/7 activity of HuCCT-1 EV2, HuCCT-1 FGFR4, R4-ICD.PB1, R4-ICD.C3 and R4-ICD.C6 cells were evaluated. After 24 hours of AKTi treatment, HuCCT-1 EV2 and HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells increased their sensitivity to TRAIL-induced cell death (\*\*\**p* < 0.001) compared to only TRAIL. However, R4-ICD-expressing cells (R4-ICD.PB1, R4-ICD.C3 and R4-ICD.C6) did not show an increase in caspase 3/7 activity with AKT inhibition compared to TRAIL alone, indicating the R4-ICD mediated cell survival is independent of pAKT mediated downstream signaling (Figure 16).



### Determining downstream signaling of FGFR4 and R4-ICD

It is known that FGFR4 mediates downstream phosphorylation of ERK to regulate cell proliferation. Also, FGFR4 downstream signaling phosphorylates AKT to regulate cell survival. Based on such observations in other studies, the level of phosphorylated proteins in the presence and absence of FGFR4 were determined using immunoblot. To examine the effect of FGFR4 to activate downstream signaling, phosphorylation of various downstream proteins including phospho- and total-ERK (regulates cell proliferation) and phospho- and total-AKT (regulates cell proliferation and cell survival) were determined using immunoblotting. The expression of FGFR4 was evaluated in KMCH shGFP and

KMCH shFGFR4 cells (**Figure 17A**), in which KMCH shFGFR4 have mild reduction in FGFR4 using the 419 shRNA and greater reduction of FGFR4 using 510 (**Figure 3B**). The amount of phosphorylated AKT was higher in FGFR4-expressing KMCH shGFP cells, while the shFGFR4 cells did not show any signal against anti-pAKT. However, the total-AKT was similar in both cells (**Figure 17A**). Such observation indicates that FGFR4 plays a crucial role in the activation of pAKT. Secondly, the expression of phosphorylated ERK in both cell lines was measured using anti-pERK antibody. KMCH shGFP had enhanced level of pERK compared to FGFR4-knockdown cells, although the level of total ERK did not change in both cell lysate (**Figure 17A**). Thus, ERK is not activated in parental cells, but was active in cells with shRNA to GFP or to FGFR4, indicating the activation is not necessarily FGFR4-mediated. Lastly, the KMCH shGFP and KMCH shFGFR4 cells had same signal for actin, indicating same protein loading on the gel (**Figure 17A**).

Similarly, the downstream signaling of both FGFR4 and R4-ICD was examined in HuCCT-1 EV2, HuCCT-1 FGFR4, R4-ICD.C3, R4-ICD.C6, and R4-ICD.PB1 cells. The HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells had lower level of phosphorylated AKT, STAT and ERK than parental, while the total level of AKT, STAT and ERK did not change (Figure 17B). Next, R4-ICD-expressing cells R4-ICD.C3, R4-ICD.C6, and R4-ICD.PB1 showed similar levels of pAKT and pERK compared to HuCCT-1 EV2 (Figure 17B). However, HuCCT-1 FGFR4 showed reduced levels of pAKT and pERK compared to HuCCT-1 EV2 (Figure 17B). However, HuCCT-1 FGFR4 showed reduced levels of pAKT and pERK compared to HuCCT-1 EV2 (Figure 17B). The level of pAKT was similar in stable R4-ICD clones, R4-ICD.C3 and R4-ICD.C6, as was total AKT (Figure 17B). The level of pERK in R4-ICD.C3 was slightly higher compared to HuCCT-1 and HuCCT-1 EV2 cells with equal level of total AKT in each of them (Figure 17B). Lastly, we compared aliquots of R4-ICD.PB1 cells (arbitrarily called A, B, C, and D) and showed an increased level of pAKT in a R4-ICD dependent manner while the total AKT was equal in all R4-ICD.PB1 on immunoblot (Figure 17C). This immunoblot indicates

that R4-ICD may increase pAKT. We note however, our previous studies suggested that the R4-ICD mediated cellular survival was independent of pAKT (**Figure 16**).





(A) Immunoblot analysis of FGFR4-expressing parental KMCH and KMCH shFGFR4 cell lysate in comparison with FGFR4-knockdown (KMCH shFGFR4) cells. (B) Determining the role of FGFR4 and R4-ICD using HuCCT-1 FGFR4 and R4-ICD.C3, R4-CID.C6 and R4-ICD.PB1 with comparison of HuCCT-1 EV2 cell lysate. (C) Immunoblot showing the correlation of R4-ICD and phosphorylation of AKT in R4-ICD.PB1 clones. A and B were performed three times and C was performed one time.

#### **CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION**

To investigate the role of fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 in cholangiocarcinoma, cell line-based functional assays were performed. In this thesis, I provided evidence that FGFR4 and R4-ICD promoted cell proliferation, protected cancer cells from apoptosis, and increased cell migration. We employed both genetic FGFR4 depletion and small molecule kinase inhibitors. Finally, we characterized some of the functional effects mediated by the R4-ICD form of FGFR4. Unexpectedly, the R4-ICD signal in cells may differ from the role of full-length receptor. Each of these cancer phenotypes and signaling pathways are discussed below.

HuCCT-1 cells exogenously expressing FGFR4 were more proliferative compared to HuCCT-1 parental and HuCCT-1 EV2 cells (both lacking FGFR4), indicating FGFR4 plays a role in cellular proliferation of CCA cells. FGFR4 is a known regulator for cellular proliferation via activation of ERK1/2 signaling in colorectal cancer and HNSCC <sup>94</sup>, <sup>112</sup>. The level of phosphorylated ERK (pERK) protein was examined in this study using immunoblotting and we found lower levels of pERK in HuCCT-1 FGFR4-expressing cells compared to HuCCT-1 parental and HuCCT-1 EV2 cells. This immunoblot data suggested that FGFR4-mediated cellular proliferation may not be dependent upon pERK-mediated downstream signaling in HuCCT-1 cells. However, the level of pERK was also examined in KMCH shGFP and shFGFR4 cells. In the KMCH cell lines, knockdown of FGFR4 reduced levels of pERK, indicating the downstream FGFR4 signaling in KMCH cells may be via ERK. FGFR4 can also regulate cellular proliferation via STAT3 signaling, although in our study, FGFR4-expressing cells showed no increase in STAT signaling compared to their FGFR4 negative control cells <sup>113</sup>.

In addition to cellular proliferation, the role of FGFR4 in cell death was determined via caspase 3/7 activity. HuCCT-1 cells showed sensitivity against TRAIL-induced

apoptosis. Based on these findings, FGFR4 was cloned into HuCCT-1 cells to study the role of FGFR4 induced cell survival. HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells showed lower caspase 3/7 activity compared to HuCCT-1 EV2 cells in the presence of TRAIL, suggesting FGFR4 protects CCA cells from TRAIL-induced apoptosis. FGFR4 is known to regulate the cell survival via phosphorylated AKT (pAKT) in multiple cancers including colorectal cancer, breast cancer and HNSCC <sup>94, 112, 114</sup>. The level of pAKT was lower in HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells compared to the control HuCCT-1 FGFR4 EV2 cells. However, knockdown of FGFR4 in KMCH reduced levels of pAKT, indicating downstream FGFR4 mediated pAKT signaling that could be a marker of cellular survival. These data suggested that FGFR4-mediated cell survival pathway may be cell line specific.

To further gain insight into FGFR4 mediated cell migration, transwell migration assays were performed. HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells had significantly higher numbers of migrated cells compared to HuCCT-1 parental cells, although the HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells had lower migration compared to control HuCCT-1 EV2 cells. From this observation, it was not clear that the increased cellular migration resulted from the overexpression of FGFR4 or the presence of empty (puromycin) vector. To further clarify these results, KMCH and KMCH shFGFR4 cells were used in the transwell migration assay. The FGFR4-knockdown cells (KMCH shFGFR4) showed significantly reduced cell migration compared to parental KMCH cells, indicating the important role of FGFR4 in CCA cell migration. Previous studies from our lab indicated that the KMCH cells expressed higher levels of FGF19 ligand compared to HuCCT-1 cells. Since HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells may have expressed lower levels of FGF19, FGF19-FGFR4 mediated cell migration may play less of a role in HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells than in KMCH cells. In accordance with our observations, similar results were reported in a previous article that showed the importance of FGF19 in cell migration. In that study, HCC cell migration increased in the presence of recombinant FGF19<sup>82</sup>. This study indicated that higher levels FGF19 may be

required to activate cell migration, therefore further experiments are needed to determine if higher levels of FGF19 can mediate HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cell migration. Overall, our findings suggest that FGFR4 inhibition via RNA inference results in decreased pERK and pAKT. Similarly, HuCCT-1 cells that endogenously lack FGFR4 expression, when subjected to FGFR4 overexpression (HuCCT-1 FGFR4), showed increased cellular proliferation and survival. However, the cellular proliferation and survival was not perfectly correlated with ERK- and AKT-mediated downstream signaling in HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells.

To determine the efficacy of pan-FGFR inhibitors and FGFR4-selective inhibitors in CCA cell lines, cell proliferation assays were performed. Two FGFR4-selective inhibitors, including H3B-6527 and Roblitinib, did not show any effect on cellular proliferation in cholangiocarcinoma cells. One FGFR4-selective inhibitor, BLU9931, significantly reduced proliferation of the FGFR4-expressing CCA cells KMCH, HuCCT-1 FGFR4 and Mz-ChA-1 cells. Similar observations are reported in past where BLU9931 significantly reduced the proliferation of FGFR4 overexpressing pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) at 2 µM and HCC at 3 µM concentration <sup>115, 116</sup>. Pan-FGFR inhibitors BGJ398 and PD173074 reduced cellular proliferation of KMCH, HuCCT-1 FGFR4 and Mz-ChA-1 cells. FGFR4-selective inhibitor (BLU9931) and pan-FGFR4 inhibitors (PD173074 and BGJ398) also reduced the cellular proliferation of HuCCT-1 cells that lack FGFR4, suggesting the inhibitor of other FGFR family protein in HuCCT-1 cells or an off-target effect of an inhibitor. KMCH cells express FGFR1, FGFR3 and FGFR4, while HuCCT-1 cells are known to express FGFR1, while the expression of FGFR2 and FGFR3 is unknown.

In cells treated with FGFR4-selective inhibitor BLU9931, the cells were sensitized to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. At 3  $\mu$ M BLU9931 treatment alone did not increase cell death, however, at 30  $\mu$ M BLU9931 has toxic effects on the cells in the absence of TRAIL. Similarly, 3  $\mu$ M BLU9931 treatment reduced cell proliferation in FGFR4-expressing cells.

In another study, BLU9931 increased the caspase 3/7 activity of FGFR4 overexpressing HCC cells in a dose dependent manner, suggesting the induction of caspase cascade in HCC cell line <sup>116</sup>.

The caspase activity induced by three additional pan-FGFR inhibitors was determined in the presence or absence of the death ligand TRAIL. However, apoptosis sensitization was not universally noted. LY2874455 at 10 µM sensitized KMCH cells to apoptosis in the presence of TRAIL. When the inhibitors were given for 24 hours, Pemigatinib was the only inhibitor to significantly sensitize KMCH cells for TRAIL induced apoptosis. These data suggest that the Pemigatinib has a potential to reduce FGFR4-expressing cell survival. Pemigatinib is an FDA approved drug (a front-line chemotherapy) used to target FGFR2-fusion in an advanced unresectable and metastatic CCA <sup>109</sup>.

The FGFR4-selective inhibitor BLU9931 and two pan-FGFR inhibitors, PD173074 and BGJ398, significantly reduced cell migration in FGFR4-expressing cells, suggesting their role in inhibiting cell migration. Related to this, BLU9931 significantly reduced cell migration in PDAC cells that had FGFR4 overexpression <sup>115</sup>. Overall, our results indicated that BLU9931, PD173074 and BGJ398 reduced proliferation, increased apoptosis, and reduced migration in CCA cells that express FGFR4. However, the FGFR4-selective inhibitor and pan-FGFR inhibitors reduced proliferation in cells that lack FGFR4 expression, calling into question its selectivity for FGFR4.

R4-ICD is a cleaved product of FGFR4 that is highly expressed in CCA patient samples and CCA cell lines. Similar proteolysis of other tyrosine kinase receptors generated by gamma secretase has been reported and may facilitate kinase relocalization in the cell <sup>117</sup>. Another study showed that the FGFR1 also has a cleaved product of intracellular domain that may plays a role in cancer progression. The subcellular localization of intracellular domain of cleaved FGFR1 receptor increased levels of pERK compared to cells that lacked the FGFR1 intracellular domain, indicating the involvement

of this cleaved product in pERK mediated signaling <sup>118</sup>. Similarly, patients exhibiting the cleaved product of ErbB4 in breast cancer had lower survival compared to cell membrane bound ErbB4, and correlated with worse clinical outcomes in ER-positive breast cancer patients <sup>119</sup>. To determine the role of R4-ICD in CCA, HuCCT-1 cells (lacking endogenous FGFR4 or R4-ICD) were stably transfected with a plasmid encoding only the intracellular domain of FGFR4 (R4-ICD). Cell proliferation, survival and migration assays were performed on R4-ICD-expressing R4-ICD.C3, R4-ICD.C6, and R4-ICD.PB1 cell lines compared to empty vector control cells (HuCCT-1 EV2) to determine the phenotype of R4-ICD in CCA. We hypothesized that R4-ICD-mediated effects would mimic those of FGFR4 in CCA progression. HuCCT-1 FGFR4 and R4-ICD.PB1 cells had higher cellular proliferation while the R4-ICD.C3 and R4-ICD.C6 cells had reduced cell proliferation. Similar to our findings, epidermal growth factor receptor 4 (ErbB4) is known to be cleaved into a lower molecular weight product, an intracellular domain (ICD) in breast cancer cells. The cleaved ICD of ErbB4 promoted the cellular proliferation of breast cancer cells <sup>119</sup>. The data indicates that R4-ICD may be a regulator of CCA cell proliferation as R4-ICD.PB1 had higher cellular proliferation compared to empty vector (HuCCT-1 EV2). However, R4-ICD.C3 and R4-ICD.C6 had reduced cell proliferation. ERK signaling is a known mechanism of FGFR4 mediated cellular proliferation, therefore ERK signaling was evaluated in R4-ICD-expressing cells. Our immunoblot data suggested that the HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells and R4-ICD.PB1 cells did not express higher level of pERK compared to HuCCT-1 EV2, suggesting FGFR4 and R4-ICD mediated cellular proliferation may not be dependent upon pERK-mediated cellular signaling. Therefore, further investigation is required to determine the degree to which FGFR4, and R4-ICD mediate cellular proliferation and the mechanism of this signaling.

Caspase 3/7 activity was evaluated in R4-ICD and FGFR4-expressing cells. HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells were protected from TRAIL-induced apoptosis compared to the empty vector (HuCCT-1 EV2) cells. Similarly, R4-ICD-expressing cells including R4-ICD.C3, R4-ICD.C6 and R4-ICD.PB1 had more protection against TRAIL-induced cell death compared to both EV2 and FGFR4. FGFR4 may regulate cancer cell survival via AKT-mediated signaling. Therefore, the level of pAKT was determined under steady-state conditions for HuCCT-1 FGFR4 and HuCCT-1 R4-ICD clones. FGFR4-expressing cells had lower levels of pAKT compared to EV2. Similarly, the R4-ICD cells have no significant difference in the expression of pAKT signal. These data indicate R4-ICD might not regulate cell survival via pAKT. To further evaluate whether the FGFR4 and R4-ICD mediated survival was dependent upon pAKT, AKT inhibitors were used in the cell apoptosis assay. The caspase 3/7 activity of HuCCT-1 FGFR4 and HuCCT-1 R4-ICD cells were determined in the presence and absence of TRAIL. AKT inhibition in the presence of TRAIL sensitized control HuCCT-1 EV2 and HuCCT-1 FGFR4 cells to death. However, the R4-ICD-expressing clones (R4-ICD.PB1, R4-ICD.C3 and R4-ICD.C6) did not show significant increase in TRAIL-induced cell sensitization in the presence of AKT inhibitor suggesting R4-ICD mediated cell survival independently of pAKT signaling. This challenges our hypothesis that R4-ICD could directly substitute for full length FGFR4 and suggests that R4-ICD signaling may be qualitatively different than FGFR4 signaling. In previous studies, the intracellular cleaved product of FGFR1 receptor has been translocated to the nucleus and identified as a transcriptional regulator of different target gene <sup>118</sup>. Similarly, it is possible that R4-ICD might translocate to the nucleus and act as transcription factor to mediate CCA cell survival or have other means to activate signaling not available for the full-length receptor. Therefore, further investigation is required to determine if R4-ICD translocates and mediates non-canonical FGFR4 signaling.

In this study FGFR4 and R4-ICD both were cloned into HuCCT-1 cells. For control (HuCCT-1 EV2), HuCCT-1 cells were transfected with empty puromycin plasmid that lack both FGFR4 and R4-ICD. The plasmid containing the gene of interest (FGFR4 or R4-ICD)

was transfected into HuCCT-1 cells using lipofectamine transfection reagent. Stable clones were selected by resistance to puromyocin or zeocin in the media. Stable clones have random insertion at different genomic sites. Random insertion may lead to alteration in the amino acid sequence (i.e., via frameshift), dysregulation of a specific gene or its expression, and can cause phenotypic heterogeneity in different selective clones. During single cell screening, clones are selected based on resistance to antibiotic alone. This included clones that have genetic alterations that allowed them to expand more rapidly and have better survival, independent of the transgene. Besides clonal variation and selection of single clonal population, our recently grown HuCCT-1 EV2 cells exhibited very unusual phenotypic changes compared to our past experiments. Our previous studies have suggested that the HuCCT-1 EV2 cells behaved very similar to HuCCT-1 parental cells. However, our recent experiments have shown that the HuCCT-1 EV2 have developed a distinct phenotype compared to HuCCT-1 parental cells, which might have resulted from clonal drift. Overall, further investigation is required to confirm whether HuCCT-1 EV2 cells have a stable phenotype and are similar to HuCCT-1 parental cells.

Regarding the role of R4-ICD in cell migration, FGFR4 and R4-ICD-expressing cells had higher cell migration compared to FGFR4-lacking HuCCT-1. However, the highest cell migration was observed in empty vector (EV2) cells. Previously, KMCH cells had shown higher cell migration compared to the FGFR4-knockdown cells. To further understand the role of R4-ICD in CCA cell proliferation, future studies will test cell survival and migration in KMCH shFGFR4 cells with restored R4-ICD expression. Overall, R4-ICD protected cells from cell apoptosis and R4-ICD mediated cell survival was independent of pAKT. However, the role of R4-ICD in cellular proliferation and migration is still not clear and further investigation is required to understand the R4-ICD-mediated signaling pathways that regulate cell proliferation, survival and migration.

### Conclusion

Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 overexpression was associated with 50-60% cholangiocarcinoma progression and therefore it is considered as a potential target in CCA management. In our study, it was observed that FGFR4 increased proliferation, survival and migration of CCA cells. The inhibition of FGFR4 expression using shRNA, lead to the reduction of cellular proliferation, cell survival and migration. Moreover, shRNA mediated FGFR4 inhibition resulted in reduced downstream signaling by way of pERK and pAKT, which are markers of cellular proliferation and survival, respectively. Furthermore, inhibition of FGFR4 via pan-FGFR (PD173074 and BGJ398) and FGFR4-selective (BLU9931) small molecular inhibitors resulted in reduced survival and migration of FGFR4-expressing CCA cells. In the case of FGFR4-selective inhibitor, BLU9931, further study is required to rule out off target effects on proliferation. An intracellular cleaved product of FGFR4, named as R4-ICD was successfully cloned into HuCCT-1 cells that endogenously lack FGFR4. These cells were used to determine the role of R4-ICD in CCA progression. It was observed that R4-ICD protected cells from TRAIL induced apoptosis independently of FGFR4, indicating its important role CCA cell survival. It was observed that the R4-ICD mediated cell survival was independent of AKT-mediated downstream signaling. Furthermore, the role of R4-ICD in cellular proliferation and migration is still not clear to-date and further investigation is required to understand R4-ICD mediated CCA progression. In conclusion, this study strongly suggests that FGFR4 and R4-ICD promote tumor features and are candidate targets for CCA management.
## References

- [1] Doherty, B., Nambudiri, V. E., and Palmer, W. C. (2017) Update on the Diagnosis and Treatment of Cholangiocarcinoma, *Current gastroenterology reports 19*, 2.
- [2] Tyson, G. L., and El-Serag, H. B. (2011) Risk factors for cholangiocarcinoma, *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)* 54, 173-184.
- [3] Bergquist, A., and von Seth, E. (2015) Epidemiology of cholangiocarcinoma, *Best practice & research. Clinical gastroenterology* 29, 221-232.
- [4] DeOliveira, M. L., Cunningham, S. C., Cameron, J. L., Kamangar, F., Winter, J. M., Lillemoe, K. D., Choti, M. A., Yeo, C. J., and Schulick, R. D. (2007) Cholangiocarcinoma: thirty-one-year experience with 564 patients at a single institution, *Ann Surg* 245, 755-762.
- [5] Rizvi, S., Khan, S. A., Hallemeier, C. L., Kelley, R. K., and Gores, G. J. (2018) Cholangiocarcinoma - evolving concepts and therapeutic strategies, *Nature reviews. Clinical oncology* 15, 95-111.
- [6] Banales, J. M., Cardinale, V., Carpino, G., Marzioni, M., Andersen, J. B., Invernizzi, P., Lind, G. E., Folseraas, T., Forbes, S. J., Fouassier, L., Geier, A., Calvisi, D. F., Mertens, J. C., Trauner, M., Benedetti, A., Maroni, L., Vaquero, J., Macias, R. I., Raggi, C., Perugorria, M. J., Gaudio, E., Boberg, K. M., Marin, J. J., and Alvaro, D. (2016) Expert consensus document: Cholangiocarcinoma: current knowledge and future perspectives consensus statement from the European Network for the Study of Cholangiocarcinoma (ENS-CCA), *Nature reviews. Gastroenterology & hepatology 13*, 261-280.
- [7] Andersen, J. B., Spee, B., Blechacz, B. R., Avital, I., Komuta, M., Barbour, A., Conner, E. A., Gillen, M. C., Roskams, T., Roberts, L. R., Factor, V. M., and Thorgeirsson, S. S. (2012) Genomic and genetic characterization of cholangiocarcinoma identifies therapeutic targets for tyrosine kinase inhibitors, *Gastroenterology* 142, 1021-1031.e1015.
- [8] Bridgewater, J., Galle, P. R., Khan, S. A., Llovet, J. M., Park, J. W., Patel, T., Pawlik, T. M., and Gores, G. J. (2014) Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma, *Journal of hepatology* 60, 1268-1289.
- [9] Blechacz, B., Komuta, M., Roskams, T., and Gores, G. J. (2011) Clinical diagnosis and staging of cholangiocarcinoma, *Nature reviews. Gastroenterology & hepatology 8*, 512-522.
- [10] (2021) Survival Rates for Bile Duct Cancer <u>https://www.cancer.org/cancer/bile-duct-</u> <u>cancer/detection-diagnosis-staging/survival-by-stage.html</u>.
- [11] Ramírez-Merino, N., Aix, S. P., and Cortés-Funes, H. (2013) Chemotherapy for cholangiocarcinoma: An update, *World journal of gastrointestinal oncology* 5, 171-176.
- [12] (2021) Bile Duct Cancer (Cholangiocarcinoma): Statistics <u>https://www.cancer.net/cancer-types/bile-duct-cancer-</u> <u>cholangiocarcinoma/statistics#:~:text=The%205%2Dyear%20survival%20rate%20</u> <u>Ofor%20extrahepatic%20bile%20duct%20cancer,year%20survival%20rate%20is</u> <u>%202%25</u>.
- [13] Khan, A. S., and Dageforde, L. A. (2019) Cholangiocarcinoma, *The Surgical clinics of North America* 99, 315-335.
- [14] (2017) Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention, 4 ed., Oxford University Press, New York.
- [15] (2020) Cholangiocarcinoma Clinical Presentation https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/277393-clinical#b5.

- [16] Feng, X., Zheng, S., Xia, F., Ma, K., Wang, S., Bie, P., and Dong, J. (2012) Classification and management of hepatolithiasis: A high-volume, single-center's experience, *Intractable & rare diseases research 1*, 151-156.
- [17] Shaib, Y. H., El-Serag, H. B., Davila, J. A., Morgan, R., and McGlynn, K. A. (2005) Risk factors of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma in the United States: a casecontrol study, *Gastroenterology* 128, 620-626.
- [18] Zhou, Y. M., Yin, Z. F., Yang, J. M., Li, B., Shao, W. Y., Xu, F., Wang, Y. L., and Li, D. Q. (2008) Risk factors for intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: a case-control study in China, *World journal of gastroenterology* 14, 632-635.
- [19] Chalasani, N., Baluyut, A., Ismail, A., Zaman, A., Sood, G., Ghalib, R., McCashland, T. M., Reddy, K. R., Zervos, X., Anbari, M. A., and Hoen, H. (2000) Cholangiocarcinoma in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis: a multicenter case-control study, *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.) 31*, 7-11.
- [20] Lazaridis, K. N., and LaRusso, N. F. (2016) Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis, *The New England journal of medicine* 375, 1161-1170.
- [21] Walter, D., Hartmann, S., and Waidmann, O. (2017) Update on cholangiocarcinoma: potential impact of genomic studies on clinical management, *Zeitschrift fur Gastroenterologie* 55, 575-581.
- [22] Kubo, S., Takemura, S., Tanaka, S., Shinkawa, H., Kinoshita, M., Hamano, G., Ito, T., Koda, M., and Aota, T. (2018) Occupational cholangiocarcinoma caused by exposure to 1,2-dichloropropane and/or dichloromethane, Annals of gastroenterological surgery 2, 99-105.
- [23] Kato, I., and Kido, C. (1987) Increased risk of death in thorotrast-exposed patients during the late follow-up period, *Japanese journal of cancer research : Gann 78*, 1187-1192.
- [24] Travis, L. B., Hauptmann, M., Gaul, L. K., Storm, H. H., Goldman, M. B., Nyberg, U., Berger, E., Janower, M. L., Hall, P., Monson, R. R., Holm, L. E., Land, C. E., Schottenfeld, D., Boice, J. D., Jr., and Andersson, M. (2003) Site-specific cancer incidence and mortality after cerebral angiography with radioactive thorotrast, *Radiation research 160*, 691-706.
- [25] Alvaro, D., Bragazzi, M. C., Benedetti, A., Fabris, L., Fava, G., Invernizzi, P., Marzioni, M., Nuzzo, G., Strazzabosco, M., Stroffolini, T., and committee, A. C. (2011) Cholangiocarcinoma in Italy: A national survey on clinical characteristics, diagnostic modalities and treatment. Results from the "Cholangiocarcinoma" committee of the Italian Association for the Study of Liver disease, *Dig Liver Dis* 43, 60-65.
- [26] Urban, O., Vanek, P., Zoundjiekpon, V., and Falt, P. (2019) Endoscopic Perspective in Cholangiocarcinoma Diagnostic Process, *Gastroenterology Research and Practice 2019*, 9704870.
- [27] Park, M.-S., Kim, T. K., Kim, K. W., Park, S. W., Lee, J. K., Kim, J.-S., Lee, J. H., Kim, K. A., Kim, A. Y., Kim, P. N., Lee, M.-G., and Ha, H. K. (2004) Differentiation of Extrahepatic Bile Duct Cholangiocarcinoma from Benign Stricture: Findings at MRCP versus ERCP, 233, 234-240.
- [28] Joo, I., Lee, J. M., and Yoon, J. H. (2018) Imaging Diagnosis of Intrahepatic and Perihilar Cholangiocarcinoma: Recent Advances and Challenges, *Radiology 288*, 7-13.
- [29] Valle, J., Wasan, H., Palmer, D. H., Cunningham, D., Anthoney, A., Maraveyas, A., Madhusudan, S., Iveson, T., Hughes, S., Pereira, S. P., Roughton, M., and Bridgewater, J. (2010) Cisplatin plus gemcitabine versus gemcitabine for biliary tract cancer, *The New England journal of medicine* 362, 1273-1281.

- [30] Tsavaris, N., Kosmas, C., Gouveris, P., Gennatas, K., Polyzos, A., Mouratidou, D., Tsipras, H., Margaris, H., Papastratis, G., Tzima, E., Papadoniou, N., Karatzas, G., and Papalambros, E. (2004) Weekly gemcitabine for the treatment of biliary tract and gallbladder cancer, *Investigational new drugs 22*, 193-198.
- [31] Cereda, S., Milella, M., Cordio, S., Leone, F., Aprile, G., Galiano, A., Mosconi, S., Vasile, E., Santini, D., Belli, C., Auriemma, A., Novarino, A., Vaccaro, V., Martines, C., Marino, D., Lutrino, S. E., Palazzo, V., Reinach, B., Aldrighetti, L., and Reni, M. (2016) Capecitabine with/without mitomycin C: results of a randomized phase II trial of second-line therapy in advanced biliary tract adenocarcinoma, *Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology* 77, 109-114.
- [32] Lamarca, A., Hubner, R. A., David Ryder, W., and Valle, J. W. (2014) Second-line chemotherapy in advanced biliary cancer: a systematic review, *Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology* 25, 2328-2338.
- [33] Forner, A., Vidili, G., Rengo, M., Bujanda, L., Ponz-Sarvisé, M., and Lamarca, A. (2019) Clinical presentation, diagnosis and staging of cholangiocarcinoma, *Liver international : official journal of the International Association for the Study of the Liver 39 Suppl 1*, 98-107.
- [34] van Vugt, J. L. A., Gaspersz, M. P., Coelen, R. J. S., Vugts, J., Labeur, T. A., de Jonge, J., Polak, W. G., Busch, O. R. C., Besselink, M. G., JNM, I. J., Nio, C. Y., van Gulik, T. M., Willemssen, F., and Groot Koerkamp, B. (2018) The prognostic value of portal vein and hepatic artery involvement in patients with perihilar cholangiocarcinoma, *HPB : the official journal of the International Hepato Pancreato Biliary Association 20*, 83-92.
- [35] Mosconi, C., Gramenzi, A., Ascanio, S., Cappelli, A., Renzulli, M., Pettinato, C., Brandi, G., Monari, F., Cucchetti, A., Trevisani, F., and Golfieri, R. (2016) Yttrium-90 radioembolization for unresectable/recurrent intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: a survival, efficacy and safety study, *British journal of cancer 115*, 297-302.
- [36] Hyder, O., Marsh, J. W., Salem, R., Petre, E. N., Kalva, S., Liapi, E., Cosgrove, D., Neal, D., Kamel, I., Zhu, A. X., Sofocleous, C. T., Geschwind, J. F., and Pawlik, T. M. (2013) Intra-arterial therapy for advanced intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: a multi-institutional analysis, *Annals of surgical oncology 20*, 3779-3786.
- [37] Ethun, C. G., Lopez-Aguiar, A. G., Anderson, D. J., Adams, A. B., Fields, R. C., Doyle, M. B., Chapman, W. C., Krasnick, B. A., Weber, S. M., Mezrich, J. D., Salem, A., Pawlik, T. M., Poultsides, G., Tran, T. B., Idrees, K., Isom, C. A., Martin, R. C. G., Scoggins, C. R., Shen, P., Mogal, H. D., Schmidt, C., Beal, E., Hatzaras, I., Shenoy, R., Cardona, K., and Maithel, S. K. (2018) Transplantation Versus Resection for Hilar Cholangiocarcinoma: An Argument for Shifting Treatment Paradigms for Resectable Disease, *Ann Surg 267*, 797-805.
- [38] Sapisochin, G., de Lope, C. R., Gastaca, M., de Urbina, J. O., López-Andujar, R., Palacios, F., Ramos, E., Fabregat, J., Castroagudín, J. F., Varo, E., Pons, J. A., Parrilla, P., González-Diéguez, M. L., Rodriguez, M., Otero, A., Vazquez, M. A., Zozaya, G., Herrero, J. I., Antolin, G. S., Perez, B., Ciria, R., Rufian, S., Fundora, Y., Ferron, J. A., Guiberteau, A., Blanco, G., Varona, M. A., Barrera, M. A., Suarez, M. A., Santoyo, J., Bruix, J., and Charco, R. (2014) Intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma or mixed hepatocellular-cholangiocarcinoma in patients undergoing liver transplantation: a Spanish matched cohort multicenter study, *Ann Surg 259*, 944-952.
- [39] Sapisochin, G., Facciuto, M., Rubbia-Brandt, L., Marti, J., Mehta, N., Yao, F. Y., Vibert, E., Cherqui, D., Grant, D. R., Hernandez-Alejandro, R., Dale, C. H., Cucchetti, A., Pinna, A., Hwang, S., Lee, S. G., Agopian, V. G., Busuttil, R. W., Rizvi, S., Heimbach, J. K., Montenovo, M., Reyes, J., Cesaretti, M., Soubrane, O.,

Reichman, T., Seal, J., Kim, P. T., Klintmalm, G., Sposito, C., Mazzaferro, V., Dutkowski, P., Clavien, P. A., Toso, C., Majno, P., Kneteman, N., Saunders, C., and Bruix, J. (2016) Liver transplantation for "very early" intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: International retrospective study supporting a prospective assessment, *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)* 64, 1178-1188.

- [40] Meyer, C. G., Penn, I., and James, L. (2000) Liver transplantation for cholangiocarcinoma: results in 207 patients, *Transplantation* 69, 1633-1637.
- [41] Robles, R., Figueras, J., Turrión, V. S., Margarit, C., Moya, A., Varo, E., Calleja, J., Valdivieso, A., Valdecasas, J. C., López, P., Gómez, M., de Vicente, E., Loinaz, C., Santoyo, J., Fleitas, M., Bernardos, A., Lladó, L., Ramírez, P., Bueno, F. S., Jaurrieta, E., and Parrilla, P. (2004) Spanish experience in liver transplantation for hilar and peripheral cholangiocarcinoma, *Ann Surg 239*, 265-271.
- [42] Seehofer, D., Thelen, A., Neumann, U. P., Veltzke-Schlieker, W., Denecke, T., Kamphues, C., Pratschke, J., Jonas, S., and Neuhaus, P. (2009) Extended bile duct resection and [corrected] liver and transplantation in patients with hilar cholangiocarcinoma: long-term results, *Liver transplantation : official publication of the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases and the International Liver Transplantation Society 15*, 1499-1507.
- [43] Jusakul, A., Cutcutache, I., Yong, C. H., Lim, J. Q., Huang, M. N., Padmanabhan, N., Nellore, V., Kongpetch, S., Ng, A. W. T., Ng, L. M., Choo, S. P., Myint, S. S., Thanan, R., Nagarajan, S., Lim, W. K., Ng, C. C. Y., Boot, A., Liu, M., Ong, C. K., Rajasegaran, V., Lie, S., Lim, A. S. T., Lim, T. H., Tan, J., Loh, J. L., McPherson, J. R., Khuntikeo, N., Bhudhisawasdi, V., Yongvanit, P., Wongkham, S., Totoki, Y., Nakamura, H., Arai, Y., Yamasaki, S., Chow, P. K., Chung, A. Y. F., Ooi, L., Lim, K. H., Dima, S., Duda, D. G., Popescu, I., Broet, P., Hsieh, S. Y., Yu, M. C., Scarpa, A., Lai, J., Luo, D. X., Carvalho, A. L., Vettore, A. L., Rhee, H., Park, Y. N., Alexandrov, L. B., Gordân, R., Rozen, S. G., Shibata, T., Pairojkul, C., Teh, B. T., and Tan, P. (2017) Whole-Genome and Epigenomic Landscapes of Etiologically Distinct Subtypes of Cholangiocarcinoma, *Cancer discovery* 7, 1116-1135.
- [44] Zou, S., Li, J., Zhou, H., Frech, C., Jiang, X., Chu, J. S., Zhao, X., Li, Y., Li, Q., Wang, H., Hu, J., Kong, G., Wu, M., Ding, C., Chen, N., and Hu, H. (2014) Mutational landscape of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma, *Nat Commun* 5, 5696.
- [45] Zhao, S., Lin, Y., Xu, W., Jiang, W., Zha, Z., Wang, P., Yu, W., Li, Z., Gong, L., Peng, Y., Ding, J., Lei, Q., Guan, K. L., and Xiong, Y. (2009) Glioma-derived mutations in IDH1 dominantly inhibit IDH1 catalytic activity and induce HIF-1alpha, *Science* 324, 261-265.
- [46] Ward, P. S., Patel, J., Wise, D. R., Abdel-Wahab, O., Bennett, B. D., Coller, H. A., Cross, J. R., Fantin, V. R., Hedvat, C. V., Perl, A. E., Rabinowitz, J. D., Carroll, M., Su, S. M., Sharp, K. A., Levine, R. L., and Thompson, C. B. (2010) The common feature of leukemia-associated IDH1 and IDH2 mutations is a neomorphic enzyme activity converting alpha-ketoglutarate to 2-hydroxyglutarate, *Cancer cell* 17, 225-234.
- [47] Dang, L., White, D. W., Gross, S., Bennett, B. D., Bittinger, M. A., Driggers, E. M., Fantin, V. R., Jang, H. G., Jin, S., Keenan, M. C., Marks, K. M., Prins, R. M., Ward, P. S., Yen, K. E., Liau, L. M., Rabinowitz, J. D., Cantley, L. C., Thompson, C. B., Vander Heiden, M. G., and Su, S. M. (2009) Cancer-associated IDH1 mutations produce 2-hydroxyglutarate, *Nature 462*, 739-744.
- [48] Borger, D. R., Tanabe, K. K., Fan, K. C., Lopez, H. U., Fantin, V. R., Straley, K. S., Schenkein, D. P., Hezel, A. F., Ancukiewicz, M., Liebman, H. M., Kwak, E. L., Clark, J. W., Ryan, D. P., Deshpande, V., Dias-Santagata, D., Ellisen, L. W., Zhu, A. X., and Iafrate, A. J. (2012) Frequent mutation of isocitrate dehydrogenase

(IDH)1 and IDH2 in cholangiocarcinoma identified through broad-based tumor genotyping, *The oncologist* 17, 72-79.

- [49] Grassian, A. R., Pagliarini, R., and Chiang, D. Y. (2014) Mutations of isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 and 2 in intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma, *Current opinion in* gastroenterology 30, 295-302.
- [50] Lowery, M. A., Burris, H. A., 3rd, Janku, F., Shroff, R. T., Cleary, J. M., Azad, N. S., Goyal, L., Maher, E. A., Gore, L., Hollebecque, A., Beeram, M., Trent, J. C., Jiang, L., Fan, B., Aguado-Fraile, E., Choe, S., Wu, B., Gliser, C., Agresta, S. V., Pandya, S. S., Zhu, A. X., and Abou-Alfa, G. K. (2019) Safety and activity of ivosidenib in patients with IDH1-mutant advanced cholangiocarcinoma: a phase 1 study, *The lancet. Gastroenterology & hepatology 4*, 711-720.
- [51] Javle, M., Lowery, M., Shroff, R. T., Weiss, K. H., Springfeld, C., Borad, M. J., Ramanathan, R. K., Goyal, L., Sadeghi, S., Macarulla, T., El-Khoueiry, A., Kelley, R. K., Borbath, I., Choo, S. P., Oh, D. Y., Philip, P. A., Chen, L. T., Reungwetwattana, T., Van Cutsem, E., Yeh, K. H., Ciombor, K., Finn, R. S., Patel, A., Sen, S., Porter, D., Isaacs, R., Zhu, A. X., Abou-Alfa, G. K., and Bekaii-Saab, T. (2018) Phase II Study of BGJ398 in Patients With FGFR-Altered Advanced Cholangiocarcinoma, *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 36, 276-282.
- [52] Lowery, M. A., Burris, H. A., 3rd, Janku, F., Shroff, R. T., Cleary, J. M., Azad, N. S., Goyal, L., Maher, E. A., Gore, L., Hollebecque, A., Beeram, M., Trent, J. C., Jiang, L., Fan, B., Aguado-Fraile, E., Choe, S., Wu, B., Gliser, C., Agresta, S. V., Pandya, S. S., Zhu, A. X., and Abou-Alfa, G. K. (2019) Safety and activity of ivosidenib in patients with IDH1-mutant advanced cholangiocarcinoma: a phase 1 study, *The lancet. Gastroenterology & hepatology 4*, 711-720.
- [53] Lamarca, A., Barriuso, J., McNamara, M. G., and Valle, J. W. (2018) Biliary Tract Cancer: State of the Art and potential role of DNA Damage Repair, *Cancer treatment reviews* 70, 168-177.
- [54] Saha, S. K., Gordan, J. D., Kleinstiver, B. P., Vu, P., Najem, M. S., Yeo, J. C., Shi, L., Kato, Y., Levin, R. S., Webber, J. T., Damon, L. J., Egan, R. K., Greninger, P., McDermott, U., Garnett, M. J., Jenkins, R. L., Rieger-Christ, K. M., Sullivan, T. B., Hezel, A. F., Liss, A. S., Mizukami, Y., Goyal, L., Ferrone, C. R., Zhu, A. X., Joung, J. K., Shokat, K. M., Benes, C. H., and Bardeesy, N. (2016) Isocitrate Dehydrogenase Mutations Confer Dasatinib Hypersensitivity and SRC Dependence in Intrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma, *Cancer discovery* 6, 727-739.
- [55] Sia, D., Hoshida, Y., Villanueva, A., Roayaie, S., Ferrer, J., Tabak, B., Peix, J., Sole, M., Tovar, V., Alsinet, C., Cornella, H., Klotzle, B., Fan, J. B., Cotsoglou, C., Thung, S. N., Fuster, J., Waxman, S., Garcia-Valdecasas, J. C., Bruix, J., Schwartz, M. E., Beroukhim, R., Mazzaferro, V., and Llovet, J. M. (2013) Integrative molecular analysis of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma reveals 2 classes that have different outcomes, *Gastroenterology* 144, 829-840.
- [56] Churi, C. R., Shroff, R., Wang, Y., Rashid, A., Kang, H. C., Weatherly, J., Zuo, M., Zinner, R., Hong, D., Meric-Bernstam, F., Janku, F., Crane, C. H., Mishra, L., Vauthey, J. N., Wolff, R. A., Mills, G., and Javle, M. (2014) Mutation profiling in cholangiocarcinoma: prognostic and therapeutic implications, *PLoS One 9*, e115383.
- [57] Javle, M., Bekaii-Saab, T., Jain, A., Wang, Y., Kelley, R. K., Wang, K., Kang, H. C., Catenacci, D., Ali, S., Krishnan, S., Ahn, D., Bocobo, A. G., Zuo, M., Kaseb, A., Miller, V., Stephens, P. J., Meric-Bernstam, F., Shroff, R., and Ross, J. (2016) Biliary cancer: Utility of next-generation sequencing for clinical management, *Cancer 122*, 3838-3847.

- [58] Wang, J., Xing, X., Li, Q., Zhang, G., Wang, T., Pan, H., and Li, D. (2020) Targeting the FGFR signaling pathway in cholangiocarcinoma: promise or delusion?, *Therapeutic advances in medical oncology* 12, 1758835920940948.
- [59] Mazzaferro, V., El-Rayes, B. F., Droz Dit Busset, M., Cotsoglou, C., Harris, W. P., Damjanov, N., Masi, G., Rimassa, L., Personeni, N., Braiteh, F., Zagonel, V., Papadopoulos, K. P., Hall, T., Wang, Y., Schwartz, B., Kazakin, J., Bhoori, S., de Braud, F., and Shaib, W. L. (2019) Derazantinib (ARQ 087) in advanced or inoperable FGFR2 gene fusion-positive intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma, *Br J Cancer 120*, 165-171.
- [60] Turner, N., and Grose, R. (2010) Fibroblast growth factor signalling: from development to cancer, *Nature reviews. Cancer 10*, 116-129.
- [61] Haugsten, E. M., Wiedlocha, A., Olsnes, S., and Wesche, J. (2010) Roles of fibroblast growth factor receptors in carcinogenesis, *Molecular cancer research : MCR 8*, 1439-1452.
- [62] Beenken, A., and Mohammadi, M. (2009) The FGF family: biology, pathophysiology and therapy, *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* 8, 235-253.
- [63] Thisse, B., and Thisse, C. (2005) Functions and regulations of fibroblast growth factor signaling during embryonic development, *Developmental biology* 287, 390-402.
- [64] Kalinina, J., Dutta, K., Ilghari, D., Beenken, A., Goetz, R., Eliseenkova, A. V., Cowburn, D., and Mohammadi, M. (2012) The alternatively spliced acid box region plays a key role in FGF receptor autoinhibition, *Structure (London, England : 1993)* 20, 77-88.
- [65] Powers, C. J., McLeskey, S. W., and Wellstein, A. (2000) Fibroblast growth factors, their receptors and signaling, *Endocrine-related cancer* 7, 165-197.
- [66] Zhuang, L., Steinberg, F., and Trueb, B. (2016) Receptor FGFRL1 acts as a tumor suppressor in nude mice when overexpressed in HEK 293 Tet-On cells, *Oncology letters* 12, 4524-4530.
- [67] Beenken, A., and Mohammadi, M. (2009) The FGF family: biology, pathophysiology and therapy, *Nature reviews. Drug discovery* 8, 235-253.
- [68] Lew, E. D., Furdui, C. M., Anderson, K. S., and Schlessinger, J. (2009) The precise sequence of FGF receptor autophosphorylation is kinetically driven and is disrupted by oncogenic mutations, *Science signaling 2*, ra6.
- [69] Korc, M., and Friesel, R. E. (2009) The role of fibroblast growth factors in tumor growth, *Current cancer drug targets* 9, 639-651.
- [70] Touat, M., Ileana, E., Postel-Vinay, S., André, F., and Soria, J. C. (2015) Targeting FGFR Signaling in Cancer, *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 21*, 2684-2694.
- [71] Miki, T., Bottaro, D. P., Fleming, T. P., Smith, C. L., Burgess, W. H., Chan, A. M., and Aaronson, S. A. (1992) Determination of ligand-binding specificity by alternative splicing: two distinct growth factor receptors encoded by a single gene, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89*, 246-250.
- [72] Yayon, A., Zimmer, Y., Shen, G. H., Avivi, A., Yarden, Y., and Givol, D. (1992) A confined variable region confers ligand specificity on fibroblast growth factor receptors: implications for the origin of the immunoglobulin fold, *The EMBO journal 11*, 1885-1890.
- [73] Levine, K. M., Ding, K., Chen, L., and Oesterreich, S. (2020) FGFR4: A promising therapeutic target for breast cancer and other solid tumors, *Pharmacol Ther 214*, 107590.
- [74] Bartz, R., Fukuchi, K., Ohtsuka, T., Lange, T., Gruner, K., Watanabe, I., Hayashi, S., Oda, Y., Kawaida, R., Komori, H., Kashimoto, Y., Wirtz, P., Mayer, J. A., Redondo-Müller, M., Saito, S., Takahashi, M., Hanzawa, H., Imai, E., Martinez, A., Hanai,

M., Häussinger, D., Chapman, R. W., Agatsuma, T., Bange, J., and Abraham, R. (2019) Preclinical Development of U3-1784, a Novel FGFR4 Antibody Against Cancer, and Avoidance of Its On-target Toxicity, *Molecular cancer therapeutics 18*, 1832-1843.

- [75] Tang, S., Hao, Y., Yuan, Y., Liu, R., and Chen, Q. (2018) Role of fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 in cancer, *Cancer science 109*, 3024-3031.
- [76] Roidl, A., Foo, P., Wong, W., Mann, C., Bechtold, S., Berger, H. J., Streit, S., Ruhe, J. E., Hart, S., Ullrich, A., and Ho, H. K. (2010) The FGFR4 Y367C mutant is a dominant oncogene in MDA-MB453 breast cancer cells, *Oncogene 29*, 1543-1552.
- [77] Taylor, J. G. t., Cheuk, A. T., Tsang, P. S., Chung, J. Y., Song, Y. K., Desai, K., Yu, Y., Chen, Q. R., Shah, K., Youngblood, V., Fang, J., Kim, S. Y., Yeung, C., Helman, L. J., Mendoza, A., Ngo, V., Staudt, L. M., Wei, J. S., Khanna, C., Catchpoole, D., Qualman, S. J., Hewitt, S. M., Merlino, G., Chanock, S. J., and Khan, J. (2009) Identification of FGFR4-activating mutations in human rhabdomyosarcomas that promote metastasis in xenotransplanted models, *J Clin Invest 119*, 3395-3407.
- [78] Hagel, M., Miduturu, C., Sheets, M., Rubin, N., Weng, W., Stransky, N., Bifulco, N., Kim, J. L., Hodous, B., Brooijmans, N., Shutes, A., Winter, C., Lengauer, C., Kohl, N. E., and Guzi, T. (2015) First Selective Small Molecule Inhibitor of FGFR4 for the Treatment of Hepatocellular Carcinomas with an Activated FGFR4 Signaling Pathway, *Cancer discovery 5*, 424-437.
- [79] Marmé, F., Hielscher, T., Hug, S., Bondong, S., Zeillinger, R., Castillo-Tong, D. C., Sehouli, J., Braicu, I., Vergote, I., Isabella, C., Mahner, S., Ferschke, I., Rom, J., Sohn, C., Schneeweiss, A., and Altevogt, P. (2012) Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 gene (FGFR4) 388Arg allele predicts prolonged survival and platinum sensitivity in advanced ovarian cancer, *International journal of cancer 131*, E586-591.
- [80] Frullanti, E., Berking, C., Harbeck, N., Jézéquel, P., Haugen, A., Mawrin, C., Parise, O., Jr., Sasaki, H., Tsuchiya, N., and Dragani, T. A. (2011) Meta and pooled analyses of FGFR4 Gly388Arg polymorphism as a cancer prognostic factor, *European journal of cancer prevention : the official journal of the European Cancer Prevention Organisation (ECP) 20*, 340-347.
- [81] Sugiyama, N., Varjosalo, M., Meller, P., Lohi, J., Chan, K. M., Zhou, Z., Alitalo, K., Taipale, J., Keski-Oja, J., and Lehti, K. (2010) FGF receptor-4 (FGFR4) polymorphism acts as an activity switch of a membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase–FGFR4 complex, 107, 15786-15791.
- [82] Miura, S., Mitsuhashi, N., Shimizu, H., Kimura, F., Yoshidome, H., Otsuka, M., Kato, A., Shida, T., Okamura, D., and Miyazaki, M. (2012) Fibroblast growth factor 19 expression correlates with tumor progression and poorer prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma, *BMC cancer 12*, 56.
- [83] Wu, X., Ge, H., Lemon, B., Vonderfecht, S., Weiszmann, J., Hecht, R., Gupte, J., Hager, T., Wang, Z., Lindberg, R., and Li, Y. (2010) FGF19-induced hepatocyte proliferation is mediated through FGFR4 activation, *The Journal of biological chemistry* 285, 5165-5170.
- [84] Yoo, C., Kang, J., Kim, D., Kim, K.-P., Ryoo, B.-Y., Hong, S.-M., Hwang, J. J., Jeong, S.-Y., Hwang, S., Kim, K.-H., Lee, Y.-J., Hoeflich, K. P., Schmidt-Kittler, O., Miller, S., and Choi, E. K. (2017) Multiplexed gene expression profiling identifies the FGFR4 pathway as a novel biomarker in intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma, *Oncotarget 8*, 38592-38601.
- [85] Nakamura, H., Arai, Y., Totoki, Y., Shirota, T., Elzawahry, A., Kato, M., Hama, N., Hosoda, F., Urushidate, T., Ohashi, S., Hiraoka, N., Ojima, H., Shimada, K.,

Okusaka, T., Kosuge, T., Miyagawa, S., and Shibata, T. (2015) Genomic spectra of biliary tract cancer, *Nat Genet* 47, 1003-1010.

- [86] Bange, J., Prechtl, D., Cheburkin, Y., Specht, K., Harbeck, N., Schmitt, M., Knyazeva, T., Müller, S., Gärtner, S., Sures, I., Wang, H., Imyanitov, E., Häring, H. U., Knayzev, P., Iacobelli, S., Höfler, H., and Ullrich, A. (2002) Cancer progression and tumor cell motility are associated with the FGFR4 Arg(388) allele, *Cancer Res* 62, 840-847.
- [87] Gowardhan, B., Douglas, D. A., Mathers, M. E., McKie, A. B., McCracken, S. R., Robson, C. N., and Leung, H. Y. (2005) Evaluation of the fibroblast growth factor system as a potential target for therapy in human prostate cancer, *Br J Cancer* 92, 320-327.
- [88] Jaakkola, S., Salmikangas, P., Nylund, S., Partanen, J., Armstrong, E., Pyrhönen, S., Lehtovirta, P., and Nevanlinna, H. (1993) Amplification of fgfr4 gene in human breast and gynecological cancers, *International journal of cancer 54*, 378-382.
- [89] Shah, R. N., Ibbitt, J. C., Alitalo, K., and Hurst, H. C. (2002) FGFR4 overexpression in pancreatic cancer is mediated by an intronic enhancer activated by HNF1alpha, *Oncogene 21*, 8251-8261.
- [90] Chang, K., and Creighton, C. J., and Davis, C., and Donehower, L., and Drummond, J., and Wheeler, D., and Ally, A., and Balasundaram, M., and Birol, I., and Butterfield, Y. S. N., and Chu, A., and Chuah, E., and Chun, H.-J. E., and Dhalla, N., and Guin, R., and Hirst, M., and Hirst, C., and Holt, R. A., and Jones, S. J. M., and Lee, D., and Li, H. I., and Marra, M. A., and Mayo, M., and Moore, R. A., and Mungall, A. J., and Robertson, A. G., and Schein, J. E., and Sipahimalani, P., and Tam, A., and Thiessen, N., and Varhol, R. J., and Beroukhim, R., and Bhatt, A. S., and Brooks, A. N., and Cherniack, A. D., and Freeman, S. S., and Gabriel, S. B., and Helman, E., and Jung, J., and Meyerson, M., and Ojesina, A. I., and Pedamallu, C. S., and Saksena, G., and Schumacher, S. E., and Tabak, B., and Zack, T., and Lander, E. S., and Bristow, C. A., and Hadjipanayis, A., and Haseley, P., and Kucherlapati, R., and Lee, S., and Lee, E., and Luguette, L. J., and Mahadeshwar, H. S., and Pantazi, A., and Parfenov, M., and Park, P. J., and Protopopov, A., and Ren, X., and Santoso, N., and Seidman, J., and Seth, S., and Song, X., and Tang, J., and Xi, R., and Xu, A. W., and Yang, L., and Zeng, D., and Auman, J. T., and Balu, S., and Buda, E., and Fan, C., and Hoadley, K. A., and Jones, C. D., and Meng, S., and Mieczkowski, P. A., and Parker, J. S., and Perou, C. M., and Roach, J., and Shi, Y., and Silva, G. O., and Tan, D., and Veluvolu, U., and Waring, S., and Wilkerson, M. D., and Wu, J., and Zhao, W., and Bodenheimer, T., and Hayes, D. N., and Hoyle, A. P., and Jeffreys, S. R., and Mose, L. E., and Simons, J. V., and Soloway, M. G., and Baylin, S. B., and Berman, B. P., and Bootwalla, M. S., and Danilova, L., and Herman, J. G., and Hinoue, T., and Laird, P. W., and Rhie, S. K., and Shen, H., and Triche, T., and Weisenberger, D. J., and Carter, S. L., and Cibulskis, K., and Chin, L., and Zhang, J., and Getz, G., and Sougnez, C., and Wang, M., and Saksena, G., and Carter, S. L., and Cibulskis, K., and Chin, L., and Zhang, J., and Getz, G., and Dinh, H., and Doddapaneni, H. V., and Gibbs, R., and Gunaratne, P., and Han, Y., and Kalra, D., and Kovar, C., and Lewis, L., and Morgan, M., and Morton, D., and Muzny, D., and Reid, J., and Xi, L., and Cho, J., and DiCara, D., and Frazer, S., and Gehlenborg, N., and Heiman, D. I., and Kim, J., and Lawrence, M. S., and Lin, P., and Liu, Y., and Noble, M. S., and Stojanov, P., and Voet, D., and Zhang, H., and Zou, L., and Stewart, C., and Bernard, B., and Bressler, R., and Eakin, A., and lype, L., and Knijnenburg, T., and Kramer, R., and Kreisberg, R., and Leinonen, K., and Lin, J., and Liu, Y., and Miller, M., and Reynolds, S. M., and Rovira, H.,

and Shmulevich, I., and Thorsson, V., and Yang, D., and Zhang, W., and Amin, S., and Wu, C.-J., and Wu, C.-C., and Akbani, R., and Aldape, K., and Baggerly, K. A., and Broom, B., and Casasent, T. D., and Cleland, J., and Creighton, C., and Dodda, D., and Edgerton, M., and Han, L., and Herbrich, S. M., and Ju, Z., and Kim, H., and Lerner, S., and Li, J., and Liang, H., and Liu, W., and Lorenzi, P. L., and Lu, Y., and Melott, J., and Mills, G. B., and Nguyen, L., and Su, X., and Verhaak, R., and Wang, W., and Weinstein, J. N., and Wong, A., and Yang, Y., and Yao, J., and Yao, R., and Yoshihara, K., and Yuan, Y., and Yung, A. K., and Zhang, N., and Zheng, S., and Ryan, M., and Kane, D. W., and Aksoy, B. A., and Ciriello, G., and Dresdner, G., and Gao, J., and Gross, B., and Jacobsen, A., and Kahles, A., and Ladanvi, M., and Lee, W., and Lehmann, K.-V., and Miller, M. L., and Ramirez, R., and Rätsch, G., and Reva, B., and Sander, C., and Schultz, N., and Senbabaoglu, Y., and Shen, R., and Sinha, R., and Sumer, S. O., and Sun, Y., and Taylor, B. S., and Weinhold, N., and Fei, S., and Spellman, P., and Benz, C., and Carlin, D., and Cline, M., and Craft, B., and Ellrott, K., and Goldman, M., and Haussler, D., and Ma, S., and Ng, S., and Paull, E., and Radenbaugh, A., and Salama, S., and Sokolov, A., and Stuart, J. M., and Swatloski, T., and Uzunangelov, V., and Waltman, P., and Yau, C., and Zhu, J., and Hamilton, S. R., and Getz, G., and Sougnez, C., and Abbott, S., and Abbott, R., and Dees, N. D., and Delehaunty, K., and Ding, L., and Dooling, D. J., and Eldred, J. M., and Fronick, C. C., and Fulton, R., and Fulton, L. L., and Kalicki-Veizer, J., and Kanchi, K.-L., and Kandoth, C., and Koboldt, D. C., and Larson, D. E., and Ley, T. J., and Lin, L., and Lu, C., and Magrini, V. J., and Mardis, E. R., and McLellan, M. D., and McMichael, J. F., and Miller, C. A., and O'Laughlin, M., and Pohl, C., and Schmidt, H., and Smith, S. M., and Walker, J., and Wallis, J. W., and Wendl, M. C., and Wilson, R. K., and Wylie, T., and Zhang, Q., and Burton, R., and Jensen, M. A., and Kahn, A., and Pihl, T., and Pot, D., and Wan, Y., and Levine, D. A., and Black, A. D., and Bowen, J., and The Cancer Genome Atlas Research, N., and Genome Characterization, C., and Genome Data Analysis, C., and Sequencing, C., and Data Coordinating, C., and Tissue Source, S., and Biospecimen Core Resource, C. (2013) The Cancer Genome Atlas Pan-Cancer analysis project, Nature Genetics 45, 1113-1120.

- [91] Zaid, T. M., Yeung, T. L., Thompson, M. S., Leung, C. S., Harding, T., Co, N. N., Schmandt, R. S., Kwan, S. Y., Rodriguez-Aguay, C., Lopez-Berestein, G., Sood, A. K., Wong, K. K., Birrer, M. J., and Mok, S. C. (2013) Identification of FGFR4 as a potential therapeutic target for advanced-stage, high-grade serous ovarian cancer, *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 19*, 809-820.
- [92] Khan, J., Wei, J. S., Ringnér, M., Saal, L. H., Ladanyi, M., Westermann, F., Berthold, F., Schwab, M., Antonescu, C. R., Peterson, C., and Meltzer, P. S. (2001) Classification and diagnostic prediction of cancers using gene expression profiling and artificial neural networks, *Nat Med* 7, 673-679.
- [93] Kanzaki, H., Chiba, T., Ao, J., Koroki, K., Kanayama, K., Maruta, S., Maeda, T., Kusakabe, Y., Kobayashi, K., Kanogawa, N., Kiyono, S., Nakamura, M., Kondo, T., Saito, T., Nakagawa, R., Ogasawara, S., Suzuki, E., Ooka, Y., Muroyama, R., Nakamoto, S., Yasui, S., Tawada, A., Arai, M., Kanda, T., Maruyama, H., Mimura, N., Kato, J., Zen, Y., Ohtsuka, M., Iwama, A., and Kato, N. (2021) The impact of FGF19/FGFR4 signaling inhibition in antitumor activity of multi-kinase inhibitors in hepatocellular carcinoma, *Scientific Reports 11*, 5303.
- [94] Peláez-García, A., Barderas, R., Torres, S., Hernández-Varas, P., Teixidó, J., Bonilla, F., de Herreros, A. G., and Casal, J. I. (2013) FGFR4 Role in Epithelial-

Mesenchymal Transition and Its Therapeutic Value in Colorectal Cancer, *PLOS ONE 8*, e63695.

- [95] Wachtel, M., Rakic, J., Okoniewski, M., Bode, P., Niggli, F., and Schäfer, B. W. (2014) FGFR4 signaling couples to Bim and not Bmf to discriminate subsets of alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma cells, 135, 1543-1552.
- [96] Xu, Y.-F., Yang, X.-Q., Lu, X.-F., Guo, S., Liu, Y., Iqbal, M., Ning, S.-L., Yang, H., Suo, N., and Chen, Y.-X. (2014) Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 promotes progression and correlates to poor prognosis in cholangiocarcinoma, *Biochemical* and biophysical research communications 446, 54-60.
- [97] Bartz, R., Fukuchi, K., Lange, T., Gruner, K., Ohtsuka, T., Watanabe, I., Hayashi, S., Redondo-Müller, M., Takahashi, M., Agatsuma, T., Bange, J., and Abraham, R. (2016) Abstract 3852: U3-1784, a human anti-FGFR4 antibody for the treatment of cancer, 76, 3852-3852.
- [98] Pai, R., French, D., Ma, N., Hotzel, K., Plise, E., Salphati, L., Setchell, K. D., Ware, J., Lauriault, V., Schutt, L., Hartley, D., and Dambach, D. (2012) Antibodymediated inhibition of fibroblast growth factor 19 results in increased bile acids synthesis and ileal malabsorption of bile acids in cynomolgus monkeys, *Toxicological sciences : an official journal of the Society of Toxicology* 126, 446-456.
- [99] Lang, L., and Teng, Y. (2019) Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor 4 Targeting in Cancer: New Insights into Mechanisms and Therapeutic Strategies, *Cells* 8.
- [100] Zhao, X., Xu, F., Dominguez, N. P., Xiong, Y., Xiong, Z., Peng, H., Shay, C., and Teng, Y. (2018) FGFR4 provides the conduit to facilitate FGF19 signaling in breast cancer progression, *Molecular carcinogenesis* 57, 1616-1625.
- [101] Liu, J., Zhang, Z., Li, X., Chen, J., Wang, G., Tian, Z., Qian, M., Chen, Z., Guo, H., Tang, G., Huang, W., Tian, D., Wang, D., Nie, Y., Fan, D., Wu, K., and Xia, L. (2018) Forkhead box C1 promotes colorectal cancer metastasis through transactivating ITGA7 and FGFR4 expression, *Oncogene* 37, 5477-5491.
- [102] Gao, L., Shay, C., Lv, F., Wang, X., and Teng, Y. (2018) Implications of FGF19 on sorafenib-mediated nitric oxide production in hepatocellular carcinoma cells - a short report, *Cellular oncology (Dordrecht)* 41, 85-91.
- [103] Joshi, J. J., Coffey, H., Corcoran, E., Tsai, J., Huang, C. L., Ichikawa, K., Prajapati, S., Hao, M. H., Bailey, S., Wu, J., Rimkunas, V., Karr, C., Subramanian, V., Kumar, P., MacKenzie, C., Hurley, R., Satoh, T., Yu, K., Park, E., Rioux, N., Kim, A., Lai, W. G., Yu, L., Zhu, P., Buonamici, S., Larsen, N., Fekkes, P., Wang, J., Warmuth, M., Reynolds, D. J., Smith, P. G., and Selvaraj, A. (2017) H3B-6527 Is a Potent and Selective Inhibitor of FGFR4 in FGF19-Driven Hepatocellular Carcinoma, *Cancer Res* 77, 6999-7013.
- [104] Weiss, A., Adler, F., Buhles, A., Stamm, C., Fairhurst, R. A., Kiffe, M., Sterker, D., Centeleghe, M., Wartmann, M., Kinyamu-Akunda, J., Schadt, H. S., Couttet, P., Wolf, A., Wang, Y., Barzaghi-Rinaudo, P., Murakami, M., Kauffmann, A., Knoepfel, T., Buschmann, N., Leblanc, C., Mah, R., Furet, P., Blank, J., Hofmann, F., Sellers, W. R., and Graus Porta, D. (2019) FGF401, A First-In-Class Highly Selective and Potent FGFR4 Inhibitor for the Treatment of FGF19-Driven Hepatocellular Cancer, *Molecular cancer therapeutics* 18, 2194-2206.
- [105] Cen, M., Yao, Y., Cui, L., Yang, G., Lu, G., Fang, L., Bao, Z., and Zhou, J. (2018) Honokiol induces apoptosis of lung squamous cell carcinoma by targeting FGF2-FGFR1 autocrine loop, 7, 6205-6218.
- [106] Terai, H., Soejima, K., Yasuda, H., Nakayama, S., Hamamoto, J., Arai, D., Ishioka, K., Ohgino, K., Ikemura, S., Sato, T., Yoda, S., Satomi, R., Naoki, K., and

Betsuyaku, T. (2013) Activation of the FGF2-FGFR1 Autocrine Pathway: A Novel Mechanism of Acquired Resistance to Gefitinib in NSCLC, *11*, 759-767.

- [107] Hagel, M., Miduturu, C., Sheets, M., Rubin, N., Weng, W., Stransky, N., Bifulco, N., Kim, J. L., Hodous, B., Brooijmans, N., Shutes, A., Winter, C., Lengauer, C., Kohl, N. E., and Guzi, T. (2015) First Selective Small Molecule Inhibitor of FGFR4 for the Treatment of Hepatocellular Carcinomas with an Activated FGFR4 Signaling Pathway, *5*, 424-437.
- [108] Sootome, H., Fujita, H., Ito, K., Ochiiwa, H., Fujioka, Y., Ito, K., Miura, A., Sagara, T., Ito, S., Ohsawa, H., Otsuki, S., Funabashi, K., Yashiro, M., Matsuo, K., Yonekura, K., and Hirai, H. (2020) Futibatinib Is a Novel Irreversible FGFR 1–4 Inhibitor That Shows Selective Antitumor Activity against FGFR-Deregulated Tumors, 80, 4986-4997.
- [109] Rizzo, A., Ricci, A. D., and Brandi, G. (2021) Pemigatinib: Hot topics behind the first approval of a targeted therapy in cholangiocarcinoma, *Cancer Treatment and Research Communications* 27, 100337.
- [110] Liu, P. C. C., Koblish, H., Wu, L., Bowman, K., Diamond, S., DiMatteo, D., Zhang, Y., Hansbury, M., Rupar, M., Wen, X., Collier, P., Feldman, P., Klabe, R., Burke, K. A., Soloviev, M., Gardiner, C., He, X., Volgina, A., Covington, M., Ruggeri, B., Wynn, R., Burn, T. C., Scherle, P., Yeleswaram, S., Yao, W., Huber, R., and Hollis, G. (2020) INCB054828 (pemigatinib), a potent and selective inhibitor of fibroblast growth factor receptors 1, 2, and 3, displays activity against genetically defined tumor models, *PLOS ONE 15*, e0231877.
- [111] Oliver, M. H., Harrison, N. K., Bishop, J. E., Cole, P. J., and Laurent, G. J. (1989) A rapid and convenient assay for counting cells cultured in microwell plates: application for assessment of growth factors, *J Cell Sci 92 (Pt 3)*, 513-518.
- [112] Gao, L., Lang, L., Zhao, X., Shay, C., Shull, A. Y., and Teng, Y. (2019) FGF19 amplification reveals an oncogenic dependency upon autocrine FGF19/FGFR4 signaling in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, *Oncogene* 38, 2394-2404.
- [113] Turkington, R. C., Longley, D. B., Allen, W. L., Stevenson, L., McLaughlin, K., Dunne, P. D., Blayney, J. K., Salto-Tellez, M., Van Schaeybroeck, S., and Johnston, P. G. (2014) Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 (FGFR4): a targetable regulator of drug resistance in colorectal cancer, *Cell Death & Disease 5*, e1046-e1046.
- [114] Tiong, K. H., Tan, B. S., Choo, H. L., Chung, F. F., Hii, L. W., Tan, S. H., Khor, N. T., Wong, S. F., See, S. J., Tan, Y. F., Rosli, R., Cheong, S. K., and Leong, C. O. (2016) Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 (FGFR4) and fibroblast growth factor 19 (FGF19) autocrine enhance breast cancer cells survival, *Oncotarget 7*, 57633-57650.
- [115] Sasaki, N., Gomi, F., Yoshimura, H., Yamamoto, M., Matsuda, Y., Michishita, M., Hatakeyama, H., Kawano, Y., Toyoda, M., Korc, M., and Ishiwata, T. (2020) FGFR4 Inhibitor BLU9931 Attenuates Pancreatic Cancer Cell Proliferation and Invasion While Inducing Senescence: Evidence for Senolytic Therapy Potential in Pancreatic Cancer, *Cancers 12*, 2976.
- [116] Hagel, M., Miduturu, C., Sheets, M., Rubin, N., Weng, W., Stransky, N., Bifulco, N., Kim, J. L., Hodous, B., Brooijmans, N., Shutes, A., Winter, C., Lengauer, C., Kohl, N. E., and Guzi, T. (2015) First Selective Small Molecule Inhibitor of FGFR4 for the Treatment of Hepatocellular Carcinomas with an Activated FGFR4 Signaling Pathway, *Cancer discovery 5*, 424-437.
- [117] Merilahti, J. A. M., and Elenius, K. (2019) Gamma-secretase-dependent signaling of receptor tyrosine kinases, *Oncogene 38*, 151-163.
- [118] Chioni, A. M., and Grose, R. (2012) FGFR1 cleavage and nuclear translocation regulates breast cancer cell behavior, *J Cell Biol 197*, 801-817.

[119] Junttila, T. T., Sundvall, M., Lundin, M., Lundin, J., Tanner, M., Härkönen, P., Joensuu, H., Isola, J., and Elenius, K. (2005) Cleavable ErbB4 Isoform in Estrogen Receptor–Regulated Growth of Breast Cancer Cells, *Cancer research 65*, 1384-1393.